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COMPANY 
PROFILE
IPB Petroleum (ABN 52 137 387 350) is an Australian oil 

and gas exploration company. IPB Petroleum has built a 

strategic position in the oil prone southern margin of the 

Browse Basin offshore North West Australia. 

Our aim is to achieve superior returns for our sharehold-

ers through early entry, exploration and, if successful, the 

development and production from our oil and gas proper-

ties WA-424-P, WA-471-P, WA-485-P.

ABOUT THIS
REPORT
This 2013 Annual Report, including Director’s Report and 

Financial Report, is a summary of IPB Petroleum’s oper-

ations, activities and financial position as at 30 June 

2013. 

All dollar figures are expressed in Australian currency 

unless otherwise stated. 

This report meets our compliance and governance 

requirements, and is designed to provide easy to read 

information for our shareholders on IPB Petroleum ‘s 

performance for the year to 30 June 2013.  

Front Cover Images of Pacific Explorer, Gwydion MC3D Seismic Survey are 

courtesy of PGS. 

The Annual General Meeting of IPB Petroleum will be held at:

10:00 am on  

Wednesday, 20 November 2013

Baker & McKenzie Offices 

Level 19

181 William Street

Melbourne Victoria 3000

Australia

ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING
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HISTORICAL MILESTONES

2009 May
IPB Petroleum was 

established

2010 October
   Acquired first asset 
          WA-424-P

November
Raised approximately 

$6.0 million

2011 April 
200 km2 3D seismic 

acquired

December
3D seismic processing 

completed

2012 April
3D seismic interpretation 

completed

-

May
Acquired second asset 

471-PWA

June
Additional $2.5 million 

raised

September
Farmout Agreement 

signed

2013 April
Listed on ASX raising 

$2.91 million

May
    Acquired third asset 

                                     WA-485-P



CHAIRMAN’S
LETTER



IPB Petroleum Limited 
Page  2  

Image in the centre of Page 1 is of Source Deck of Pacific Explorer just before WA-424-P Gwydion MC3D Survey in April 2011. Courtesy of PGS.

ΙΠB 
IPB Petroleum Limited  

(ABN 52 137 387 350 ) 
23 Small Street  

Hampton, Victoria 3188  
Ph+61 3 9598 0188 
Fax+61 3 9598 0199

Dear Shareholder,

On behalf of the Board of IPB Petroleum Limited, I am pleased to provide you with the company’s 2013 

Annual Report to shareholders.

This report has been prepared with reference to ASIC’s Regulatory Guide 247 released in March this year. 

Accordingly substantive details relating to operating and financial performance and future prospects are now 

contained within the Directors Report, such that preceding sections are consequently relatively brief.  

As this is the first Annual Report from IPB Petroleum as an ASX listed public company, I would like to take 

this opportunity to congratulate the executive management and staff on a remarkable four years of progress 

since the company’s inception in 2009. Over this period, and in particular the last 12 months, your company 

has achieved all of its key goals culminating in its listing on the ASX on 30 April this year.

As detailed in IPB Petroleum’s Prospectus, a decision was taken not to impose a four month maximum 

trading restriction on non-ASX escrowed shareholdings. This has allowed a number of shareholders to 

realise a profit on the sale of their shares at prices below our  IPO price. Despite this, and associated difficult 

market conditions, I can report that IPB Petroleum’s plans remain on track.  

I look forward to the current financial year where amongst other important activities, the drilling of the 

Pryderi-1 exploration well is planned. If successful, this event has the potential to add significant value to the 

company and increase the underlying value of your company’s overall Browse Basin acreage position.

Finally, I would like to thank shareholders for their continued interest in and support for IPB Petroleum and 

look forward to updating you further at the company’s Annual General Meeting on 20 November 2013.

Yours sincerely,

Shane Tanner

Non-Executive Chairman
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“2013 was a year of substantial 
achievement for IPB Petroleum”

Performance Against Goals

At the commencement of the 2013 financial year IPB 

Petroleum had set the following key goals:

1. Complete a farmout of WA-424-P to fund the drilling

of the Pryderi prospect 

2. List the company on ASX, and raise sufficient funds

to fund ongoing activities

3. Acquire complementary exploration acreage

4. Complete preparation for the drilling of the Pryderi-1

exploration well. 

In all but the last item IPB Petroleum exceeded its 

objectives, and as at the date of this report planning 

and other activities for the drilling of Pryderi-1 are well 

advanced.

1. Farmout to CalEnergy

Drilling of Pryderi-1 to be free carried – with potential 

for additional funding

As detailed in the Directors Report, IPB Petroleum 

completed the important farmout of an interest in its 

WA-424-P exploration permit for the drilling of the 

planned Pryderi-1  oil exploration well. The company is 

pleased to advise that it received several alternate 

offers in response to its farmout invitation, revealing 

substantial interest in IPB Petroleum’s WA-424-P 

permit and its Pryderi prospect. 

A key benefit to the company of the agreed farmout is 

that 100% of the cost of drilling the Pryderi-1 explora-

tion well is expected to be fully covered by CalEnergy. 

There is also the the potential for additional funding of 

further activities in the event that CalEnergy elects to 

increase their interest in the whole WA-424-P permit to 

60% post Pryderi-1 drilling.  

2. Listing the company on ASX

Preparation for funding growth through potential explo-

ration success

Despite difficult market conditions IPB Petroleum was 

successfully listed on the ASX on April 30, 2013. The 

company raised approximately $2.91 million before 

costs, including the acceptance of approximately 

$400,000 in oversubscriptions. Preparative listing and 

associated activities were completed during the 

preceding five (5) months to March 2013. Listing the 

company was considered an important milestone in 

positioning IPB Petroleum to optimally fund its ongoing 

activities, particularly in the event of future exploration 

success. 

3. Acquiring complementary exploration acreage

Leveraging from existing position and planned activi-

ties

IPB Petroleum was successfully awarded a 100% 

interest in exploration permit WA-485-P in May 

through the 2012 Australian Government offshore 

acreage release. As the company had interpreted an 

extension of the M.australis play, to be tested by the 

upcoming Pryderi-1 well in WA-424-P,  into this permit, 

the addition of this acreage will position the company 

to capture additional potential upside in the event of 

success at Pryderi-1. 

IPB Petroleum Limited 
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Image in the centre of Page 3 is the Seismic amplitude map at the M.australis horizon as interpreted from the Gwydion MC3D survey



MANAGING DIRECTOR’S
REVIEW    continued

4. Complete preparations for drilling the Pryderi

prospect

A potential company changing event 

The WA-424-P joint venture (IPB Petroleum 75%, 

CalEnergy 25% and operator) completed substantial 

work during the year to progress project management 

and environmental approvals for the planned drilling of 

the Pryderi well. Unfortunately due to the scarcity of 

suitable rigs, the Joint Venture sought and was granted 

an extension of time to July 2014 to drill.  

The joint venture also received notice in May that its 

previously submitted Environmental Plan for the 

upcoming Pryderi well would require some additional 

modification. Accordingly, a revised Environmental 

Plan was submitted on 13 September 2013. Subject to 

receiving environmental approvals and rig availability, 

the WA-424-P joint venture anticipates that it will be drill 

ready for spudding the Pryderi-1 well in the fourth quar-

ter of 2013.

Current Plans

An exciting 12 months ahead...

IPB Petroleum has an exciting year ahead, and with the 

near term activity of our first exploration well drawing 

closer, the potential for a substantial change in the 

value of IPB Petroleum’s assets is a real possibility. 

In addition to the Pryderi-1 exploration well the compa-

ny will also continue to work-up its other permits, and 

other independent exploration plays there-in, which 

could offer additional opportunities for farmouts and 

other exploration activities over the coming 12 months. 

The company will also continue to look at other value 

creating opportunities on an ongoing basis and as 

appropriate.

Brendan Brown

Managing Director 

IPB Petroleum Limited 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

FINANCIAL REPORT

AUDITOR’S REPORT

ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

The Directors’ present their report of IPB Petroleum Limited (‘IPB Petroleum’) and subsidiaries (‘Group’) for the Financial Year ended 30 June 

2013 and the independent auditor’s report thereon.  

Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors of the company (‘Board’) has been in office since the start of the Financial Year to date of this report unless otherwise 

stated:  

Shane Tanner  
Non-Executive Chairman 

Qualifications 

FCPA, ACIS 

Experience and Expertise 
Shane Tanner was appointed to the Board in October 2010 as an Independent Non-Executive Chairman as well as a member of the Audit 

Committee. Mr Tanner has strong and varied commercial and financial experience over a 30-year period. He is a former CFO of Mayne 

Nickless and was CEO of Symbion Health (formerly MN Diagnostics). Mr Tanner has helped many start-up companies over the years develop 

through acquisition and organic growth into sizable organisations.  

Directorships Held in Other Listed Entities 
Shane Tanner is Chairman and a Non-Executive Director of Vision Eye Institute Limited, Funtastic Limited and Paragon Care Limited. 

Brendan Brown 
Managing Director  

Qualifications 

BSc, BE (Hons), MBA (Melb), F.Fin 

Experience and Expertise 
Brendan Brown founded the company in May 2009 and has over 20 years’ experience in the oil and gas and finance industries. Having 

commenced his career as an engineer with BHP Petroleum, he was involved in various projects and operations including the Jabiru, Challis, 

Skua and Griffin oil field developments. He has been a successful analyst and corporate adviser with ANZ Investment Bank, and assisted 

Nexus Energy as an independent advisor with its hostile takeover defence in 2006. While subsequently employed at Nexus Energy in 2007–

2008 as Head of Finance and Business Development, he was responsible for substantial financing, including equity, hybrid and structured 

debt, secured by the company and the negotiation and maintenance of its key commercial agreements and relationships.  

Directorships Held in Other Listed Entities 
Brendan Brown has not been a Director of any other publicly listed companies in the past three (3) years. 

IPB Petroleum Limited 
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
FOINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

Philip Smith 
Technical Director 

Qualifications 

BSc Physics (Hons), MSc Geophysics, Grad Dip App Fin & Inv 

Experience and Expertise 
Philip Smith was appointed as the Technical Director in October 2010. He has over 30 years’ experience working as an Exploration 

Geoscientist and commenced his career in London with Phillips Petroleum and Kufpec before coming to Australia to join Woodside Petroleum 

and then BHP Petroleum. Mr Smith’s positions in his 15 years with BHP Petroleum were in senior technical and managerial roles, mainly 

involved in offshore basins around Australia. He was involved in oil and gas discoveries in Elang, Laminaria, Maple and Argus. Later he joined 

Nexus Energy where he was responsible for building the exploration portfolio and was involved in the Longtom and Crux appraisal and 

development projects.  

Directorships Held in Other Listed Entities 
Philip Smith has not been a Director of any other publicly listed companies in the past three (3) years. 

Craig Mathieson 
Non-Executive Director  

Qualifications 

BBus (Banking & Finance) 

Experience and Expertise 
Craig Mathieson was appointed to the Board in August 2012 as a Non-Executive Director and is Chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr 

Mathieson brings 10 years’ experience from the financial sector and is CEO of The Mathieson Group. He was Managing Director of Don 

Mathieson & Staff Pty Ltd from 2001 to 2007 and also gained a banking and commercial background while working with the business banking 

division of ANZ Bank and the property and finance division of St George Bank.  

Directorships Held in Other Listed Entities 
Over the past three (3) years, Craig Mathieson has been a Director of Funtastic Limited, World Oil Resources Limited and Great Western 

Exploration Limited. 

IPB Petroleum Limited 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

Geoffrey King
Non-Executive Director 

Qualifications 

BSc (Hons) 

Experience and Expertise 
Geoffrey King was appointed to the Board in February 2013 as a Non-Executive Director and is also a member of the Audit Committee. He 

brings over 30 years’ experience within the oil and gas industry, having commenced his career with Esso Australia. Mr King then joined BHP 

Petroleum where he held a number of management positions and was directly involved in oil and gas discoveries at Macedon, Pyrenees, 

Montara, Argus and Gwydion. He was the Vice President of Exploration Australia/Asia for four (4) years with BHP Billiton and has experience 

in offshore basins around Australia. With his wealth of knowledge in the Australian market, Mr King also has experience in the oil and gas 

sector in the United States and South East Asia. He brings a particular insight into the area of exploration in the Browse Basin. 

Directorships Held in Other Listed Entities 
Mr King has not been a Director of any other publicly listed companies in the past three (3) years. 

Terry White 
Non-Executive Director 

Qualifications 

BSc (Hons) 

Experience and Expertise 
Terry White was appointed to the Board in August 2012 and has over 30 years’ of experience in the upstream oil and gas industry in senior 

roles with major industry participants in Australia and overseas. Late in 2012, Mr White was offered and accepted a senior Executive position 

with another entity and as a result resigned as a Director of IPB Petroleum.  

Directorships Held in Other Listed Entities 
During his tenure, Mr White had not been a Director of any publicly listed company over the preceding three (3) years other than IPB 

Petroleum. 

Special Notes 
Resigned 26 November 2012.

IPB Petroleum Limited 
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continuedNANCIAL 

Table 1 displays the appointment and cessation dates of each Director. 

Name Role Date of Appointment Date of Cessation 

Shane Tanner Non-Executive Chairman 5 October 2010 - 

Brendan Brown Managing Director 28 May 2009 - 

Philip Smith Technical Director 5 October 2010 - 

Craig Mathieson Non-Executive Director 15 August 2012 - 

Geoffrey King Non-Executive Director 5 February 2013 - 

Terry White Non-Executive Director 15 August 2012 26 November 2012 

Table 1 – Directors’ dates of appointment and cessation 

Company Secretary 
John Osborne was appointed as the Company Secretary in November 2012. He provides part-time company secretarial services to IPB 

Petroleum and brings a wealth of practical experience at senior levels in finance, administration and commercial operations across a broad 

range of industries. Mr Osborne has focused on the provision of company secretarial services to ASX-listed companies and provides corporate 

advisory and investment banking services to small-medium enterprise sector. Over the past 10 years, he has been a Company Secretary or 

consultant to over eight (8) public companies including, Vision Eye Institute Limited, Environmental Clean Technologies Limited and 

SteriHealth Limited. 

Peter McMillan, acted as Company Secretary from 23 October 2012 to 18 January 2013. 

Directors’ Meetings 
Table 2 below sets out the Board members and the Committees of the Board (‘Committees’), as well as the corresponding number of 

meetings of the Board and Audit Committee held during 2013 and the number of meetings attended during each Director’s period of office. 

Director Board Audit Committee 

Number Eligible to Attend Number Attended Number Eligible to Attend Number Attended 

Shane Tanner 15 14 2 2 

Brendan Brown 15 15 - - 

Philip Smith 15 15 - - 

Craig Mathieson 12 12 2 2 

Geoffrey King 8 8 2 2 

Terry White 5 5 - - 

Table 2 – Directors’ attendance at Board and Committee Meetings 

IPB Petroleum Limited 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

Principal Activities  
During the year, the principal activities of IPB Petroleum consisted of conventional hydrocarbon exploration and associated activities on its 

three (3) Browse Basin exploration permits (‘Permits’) offshore North West Australia.   

Image 1 - IPB Petroleum’s Permits in the Browse Basin offshore North West Australia 

Table 3 shows IPB Petroleum’s current working interest in each of its Permits. 

Exploration Permit IPB Petroleum’s Interest 

WA-424-P 75% non-operating interest in the whole permit except for the “GMG” area, where it holds a 40% non-operating interest 
(Refer: ‘Significant Changes in State of Affairs’) 

WA-471-P 100% interest and Operator (Refer: ‘Significant Changes in State of Affairs’) 

WA-485-P 100% interest and Operator 

Table 3 – IPB Petroleum’s current working interest in each of its exploration permits 

IPB Petroleum Limited 
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

Significant Changes in State of Affairs
A number of significant changes in the state of affairs of IPB Petroleum occurred during the year. These changes are summarised as follows: 

Farmout Agreement to CalEnergy 

In September 2012, IPB Petroleum entered into a Farmout Agreement (‘Farmout’) with CalEnergy Resources (Australia) Limited (‘CalEnergy’). 

Key details of the Farmout are that CalEnergy: 

• Will fund 100% of the cost of drilling the Pryderi Prospect Exploration Well (‘Pryderi Well’) in the WA-424-P permit (IPB Petroleum

estimates to cost approximately $15 million) to earn a 25% interest in the whole permit – except that CalEnergy will earn 60% interest in

the permit’s current Gwydion discovery and the neighbouring Mathonwy/Gilfaethwy structures (‘GMG’) area (Refer: Image 2 below).

CalEnergy is the Operator of WA-424-P.

• Have an option for three (3) months after drilling the Pryderi Well to increase their interest in the balance of the WA-424-P permit to 60%

by spending further funds as CalEnergy’s determines on exploration, appraisal and/or development activities totaling $32.4 million less

the costs it expends on the Pryderi well.

• Have the option to participate at a 25% interest in IPB Petroleum’s WA-471-P permit, which can be exercised for nominal cost within

three (3) months of the date of the Pryderi Well being drilled. IPB Petroleum will remain the Operator of this permit.

Image 2 - WA-424-P permit outline (right) with zoom-in view top ‘M.australis’ horizon (left) of Gwydion 3D seismic survey (2011) area highlighting 
relative GMG location and size 

ASX Listing of the Company 

In March 2013, IPB Petroleum lodged a Prospectus to raise a minimum of $2.5 million with an ability to accept oversubscriptions for up to an 

additional $2.5 million through the issue of new fully paid ordinary shares at $0.50 per share to investors. Total subscriptions of approximately 

$2.91 million were accepted by the company and accordingly 5.831 million new shares were issued.   

IPB Petroleum was accepted for admission to the official list of the Australian Stock Exchange (‘ASX’) and the company’s shares commenced 

trading on 30 April 2013.  
IPB Petroleum Limited 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

Award of permit WA-485-P 

In May 2013, the government awarded IPB Petroleum a 100% interest in Petroleum exploration permit WA-485-P in the Browse Basin 

offshore North West Australia for an initial period of six (6) years.  WA-485-P lies immediately north of the company’s WA-424-P permit and 

immediately east of the WA-471-P permit.  Based on the company’s analysis and interpretation of existing available 2D seismic data, IPB 

Petroleum believes there is a substantial continuation into WA-485-P of the M.australis horizon oil play identified in WA-424-P. This is the 

subject to the upcoming drill of the Pryderi Well in WA-424-P.  

Review of Operations 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 

As an exploration company, IPB Petroleum has no income generating assets, and accordingly the company’s consolidated net profit/loss after 

income tax for the Financial Year ended 30 June 2013 was ($1.81 million) (2012: ($1.68 million)).  

During the year, IPB Petroleum received other revenue of $211,509 (2012: $64,657), which included a re-imbursement by CalEnergy of drilling 

engineering and project management costs incurred and associated Environmental Plan (‘EP’) levies to the amount of $156,214, (2012: zero), 

and interest income of $55,295,(2012: $64,657). 

IPB Petroleum incurs costs in performing its exploration, business development, and company administration activities, which are either 

expensed or capitalised in accordance with the relevant accounting standards.  

Expenses totalling $2.02 million (2012: $1.75 million) during the year, included $285,402 of expenses associated with listing the company on 

ASX. An additional $155,033 of broker commissions were paid and charged directly (i.e. deducted from) to Issued Capital.  

Statement of Financial Position 

As at Financial Year ended 30 June 2013, IPB Petroleum’s financial position and capital structure reflects the nature of its activities. That is, no 

debt and two major asset classes being cash of $2.60 million (2012: $2.42 million) and capitalised exploration and evaluation expenses of 

$5.05 million (2012: $4.01 million).  

The cash held prior to listing and the funds raised in the public offering completed in April 2013 have been applied to furthering the company’s 

business objectives as detailed in the IPB Petroleum Prospectus dated 1 March 2013. 

The net assets of the company have increased over the 2013 Financial Year from $6.49 million at end June 2012 to $7.44 million as at end 

June 2013. The change in net assets of $0.95 million was due to new share issues raising a net $2.76 million (after transaction costs i.e. 

broker commissions) and the net loss for Financial Year 2013 of $1.81 million.  

The net cash increase of $182,010 year on year is substantially represented by the issue of new shares raising $2.76 million less cash 

outflows from operating activities, and exploration expenditure (capitalised) totalling $2.56 million.  

IPB Petroleum has accumulated losses of $3.89 million plus capitalised exploration costs of $5.05 million (expensed for taxation purposes) 

plus Petroleum Resource Rent Tax (‘PRRT’) credits of $6.83 million for which it has not recognised any future taxation benefits in its financial 

statements due to the company’s early stage exploration status, with no commercial reserves.  

Through the company’s farmout, IPB Petroleum expects that approximately $15 million will be required to be spent by CalEnergy in the drilling 

of the Pryderi Well in the coming 12 months in return for the 25% interest in WA-424-P, and 60% interest in that permit’s ‘GMG’ area 

transferred by IPB Petroleum. This commitment is not recognised in IPB Petroleum’s Financial Statements in accordance with the relevant 

accounting standards. 

IPB Petroleum Limited 
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

Under the terms of grant by government exploration permit holders such as IPB Petroleum are committed to complete work commitment 

programmes during the tenure of the permit unless varied by agreement with the relevant government authority. If a permit holder does not 

fulfil the agreed permit work programme the penalty for the company is potential forfeiture of the permit.  As there are no financial penalties, 

the work commitment programmes are not recognised in the company’s Financial Statements in accordance with the relevant accounting 

standards.  

Further details of the work programmes relating to IPB Petroleum’s three (3) Permits are included in the section ‘Future Developments 

Prospects and Business Strategies’.  

Operational Activities within IPB Petroleum’s Exploration Permits 

Exploration Permit WA-424-P (IPB Petroleum 75%, CalEnergy 25%)* 

*Note: IPB Petroleum currently has a 75% interest in WA-424-P excluding the GMG Area, and a 40% interest in the GMG Area (Refer to the

‘Farmout Agreement to CalEnergy’). CalEnergy has an option to increase their interest in the whole of WA-424-P to 60% within three (3) 

months of drilling the Pryderi well by spending additional funds equal to $32.4 million less the cost of drilling the Pryderi Well. CalEnergy is the 

operator of WA-424-P. 

During the year, activities centred around continued interpretation, prospect and lead development, and resource assessment within the 

permit. Farmout activities were also undertaken resulting in the successful Farmout to CalEnergy for the funding of 100% of the cost of drilling 

the planned Pryderi Well. As a result, CalEnergy has become the operator of the WA-424-P permit.    

IPB Petroleum also commissioned ISIS Petroleum Consultants Pty Ltd (‘ISIS’) to perform an independent hydrocarbon resource assessment 

on the permit. As a result, and with reference to the paragraph within this report titled ‘Resources’ the following resources attributable to the 

various leads and prospects identified by IPB Petroleum contained within the permit (net to IPB Petroleum) as depicted in Image 3 and are 

provided in Table 4. 

Image 3 - WA-424-P Prospects and Leads Map 

IPB Petroleum Limited 
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Chance of 
Success

%of Total (Risk: Pg)
P90 P50 P10 Mean P90 P50 P10 Mean

Gwydion 4 5 6 5 1 2 3 2 0.4% 1.00

Mathonwy Prospect 1.4 1.8 2.3 1.8 0.5 0.8 1.2 0.8 0.2% 0.72

Pryderi 3D Prospect 23 56 131 70 9 24 59 30 5.9% 0.45

2D Pryderi Channel Leads P90 P50 P10 Mean P90 P50 P10 Mean
High Case 496 704 1019 738 217 315 467 332 0.15
Low Case 162 199 239 200 70 89 111 90 0.40
Mid Case 344 455 610 469 153 203 280 212 41.4% 0.23

Arianrhod 3D Stratigraphic Lead 8 19 45 24 3 8 20 11 2.1% 0.24

"Mordred" Structural Leads 82 106 136 108 35 47 64 48 9.5% 0.20

Tristram OIL CASE (On Block)* 223 433 818 487 85 179 362 207 40.6% 0.04
* 80% of the lead lies in WA 424-P SUBTOTAL 508

P90 P50 P10 Mean P90 P50 P10 Mean
High Case 1049 1391 1887 1433 452 611 848 631
Low Case 621 850 1241 895 263 368 554 389
Mid Case 835 1120 1564 1164 357 489 701 510

CONTINGENT RESOURCES (Oil - Million Barrels )  Net to IPB
In Place Recoverable

PROSPECTIVE RESOURCES (Oil - Million Barrels ) - Net to IPB - UNRISKED

TOTAL PORTFOLIO 
(contingent + prospective resouces)

In Place Recoverable

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Table 4 - WA-424-P Resources net to IPB Petroleum 

IPB Petroleum also completed conceptual field development studies, including costings to better understand the economics of a potential 

commercial discovery at Pryderi. Studies were primarily centred on the mean Prospective Resource estimate of 40 MMbbls, and revealed 

robust economics could be achieved if similar reservoir properties to the nearby Gwydion discovery exist for this particular case at Pryderi.   

During the year, the planning and preparations for the drilling of the Pryderi Well continued such that: 

• Request for quotes were issued and received for casing, casing accessories, drill bits, well heads, geotechnical and geophysical site 

surveys; 

• A substantial portion of the detailed well design was completed; and 

• As at 30 June 2013, the rig selection process had commenced.  

Substantial progress was also made in the preparation of the joint venture’s Environmental Plan (EP) and Oil Spill Contingency Plan (‘OSCP’) 

such that an initial submission was made in April 2013 to the National Offshore Petroleum Safety and Environmental Management Authority 

(‘NOPSEMA’). Subsequently advice was received from NOPSEMA in late May that further modification was required, and a resubmission 

occurred subsequent to year end on 13 September 2013.  

As a consequence of the scarcity of suitable offshore rigs for drilling the Pryderi Well, the WA-424-P joint venture sought and on 5 July 2013 

was granted a 12 month suspension and extension to the Permit’s Primary Term to 12 July 2014. This extension was considered sufficient to 

allow for the drilling of the Pryderi Well and fully evaluate its results before commencement of the Permit’s Secondary Term. 

Subject to the acceptance of the EP and OSCP and other regulatory approvals required and availability of a suitable drilling rig, IPB Petroleum 

expects that the WA-424-P joint venture will be ready to spud the Pryderi Well sometime in the fourth quarter of 2013. 

CONTINGENT RESOURCES (Oil – Million Barrels) Net to IPB Petroleum 

PROSPECTIVE RESOURCES (Oil – Million Barrels) Net to IPB Petroleum (UNRISKED) 



DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

The remaining work commitment programme from 1 July 2013 for WA-424-P on a 100% permit basis is detailed in Table 5 below: 

Term Year of Permit Permit Year 
End Date 

Remaining Minimum Work 
Required 

Current Estimated 
Expenditure $AUD* 

Primary Year 2 & 3 12 July 2014 1 Exploration Well 15,000,000 

Secondary Year 4 12 July 2015 500 km² 3D Seismic 

Geophysical and Geological 

Studies 

8,000,000 

400,000 

Secondary Year 5 12 July 2016 1 Exploration Well 

Geophysical and Geological 

Studies 

15,000,000 

400,000 

Secondary Year 6 12 July 2017 200 km² 3D Seismic Survey 

Geophysical and Geological 

Studies 

6,000,000 

400,000 

Table 5 – WA-424-P Work Commitment Programme 

*IPB Petroleum internal estimates

*Note: Only the first three (3) years (Primary Term) of the six (6) year permit grant are part of the committed work programme. A permit can be 

relinquished by the holder at the end of Year 3 and then at the end of each subsequent year (in the Secondary Term). 

If the permit holders do not comply with the work program and are not able to agree with the relevant government authority to a modification of the

work program, then the subject permit would lapse. If a permit does lapse the holders of the permit do not have any ongoing liability for

expenditure or work programme in respect of the lapsed permit.

Exploration Permit WA-471-P (IPB Petroleum 100%)*

IPB Petroleum currently has a 100% interest in WA-471-P (Refer to the ‘Farmout Agreement to CalEnergy’). CalEnergy has an option to

participate at a 25% interest in WA-471-P permit for a nominal cost exercisable within three (3) months of drilling the Pryderi Well.

IPB Petroleum’s work to date supports its view that the WA-471-P permit lies along the Gwydion discovery’s oil migration pathway due to its

location in-between the existing Gwydion oil discovery to the permit’s south and the discovery’s identified oil-prone source rocks to the permit’s

north.

Geological and geophysical work completed during the year has identified some features on existing 2D seismic which bear similarities to the

Pryderi type (M.australis) stratigraphic play and the Gwydion or Mordred structural plays identified in IPB Petroleum’s WA-424-P permit to the

south.

The sparseness of seismic data over parts of the permit does not allow any resources to be assigned to WA-471-P at this stage. However,

features identified on the seismic by IPB Petroleum and subsequent preliminary reviews, suggest that there are a significant number of play-

types that warrant further investigation and may ultimately generate additional prospects and leads as depicted in Image 4 below.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

Image 4 – WA-471-P Play Types 

 The remaining work commitment programme from 1 July 2013 for WA-471-P on a 100% permit basis is detailed in Table 6 below. 

Term Year of Permit Permit Year 
End Date 

Remaining Minimum Work Required Current Estimated 
Expenditure $AUD* 

Primary Year 2 3 May 2014 Geophysical and Geological Studies 

600 km² of 3D Seismic 

400,000 

9,000,000 

Primary Year 3 3 May 2015 1 Exploration Well 

Geophysical and Geological Studies 

15,000,000 

500,000 

Secondary Year 4 3 May 2016 Geophysical and Geological Studies 200,000 

Secondary Year 5 3 May 2017 1 Exploration Well 

Geophysical and Geological Studies 

15,000,000 

200,000 

Secondary Year 6 3 May 2018 Geophysical and Geological Studies 200,000 

Table 6 – WA-471-P Work Commitment Programme 

*IPB Petroleum internal estimates
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*Note: Only the first three (3) years (Primary Term) of the six (6) year permit grant are part of the committed work programme. A permit can be 

relinquished by the holder at the end of Year 3 and then at the end of each subsequent year (in the Secondary Term).  

If the permit holders do not comply with the work program and are not able to agree with the relevant government authority to a modification of the 

work program, then the subject permit would lapse. If a permit does lapse the holders of the permit do not have any ongoing liability for 

expenditure or work programme in respect of the lapsed permit. 

Exploration Permit WA-485-P (IPB Petroleum 100%) 

In May 2013, IPB Petroleum was awarded a 100% interest in Petroleum exploration permit WA-485-P in the Browse Basin offshore North-

West Australia for an initial period of six (6) years.  WA-485-P lies immediately north of WA-424-P (IPB Petroleum 75%, CalEnergy 25%) and 

immediately east of WA-471-P permit (IPB Petroleum 100%).  

During the year, geological and geophysical studies completed by IPB Petroleum (on the predecessor gazettal block W12-3) identified that the 

shallow (M.australis) oil play, which will be tested by the upcoming Pryderi Well in WA-424-P, could be interpreted to be present over a large 

part of the WA-485-P permit. This is shown in Image 5 below.  

Following award, IPB Petroleum commissioned ISIS to perform an independent assessment of the hydrocarbon resources attributable to the 

interpreted extension of the M.australis oil play into WA-485-P. As a result, Table 7 details the Prospective Resources that have been 

attributed to the play’s 16 identified leads in WA-485-P. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  
  

Image 5 - IPB Petroleum’s interpreted extension of M.australis Play Leads from WA-424-P into WA-485-P (IPB Petroleum 100%) 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

P R O S P E C T I V E  RESOURCES (Oil - Million Barrels)  (Unr isked)  

 Undiscovered PIIP  Prospective Resources 
P90 P50 P10 Mean P90 P50 P10 Mean 

M.australis oil play (WA-485-P) 247 350 513 369 108 157 235 166 

Table 7 - Prospective Resources for M.australis play in WA-485-P (IPB Petroleum 100%) 

Term Year of Permit Permit Year 
End Date 

Remaining Minimum Work 
Required 

Current Estimated 
Expenditure $AUD* 

Primary Year 1 

 

13 May 2014 Geophysical and Geological 

Studies 

 

225,000 

Primary Year 2 13 May 2015 610 km² of 3D Seismic Data 

Geophysical and Geological 

Studies 

 

7,500,000 

250,000 

Primary Year 3 13 May 2016 2 Exploration Wells 

Geophysical and Geological 

Studies 

 

24,000,000 

250,000 

Secondary Year 4 13 May 2017 500 km² 3D Seismic  

Geophysical and Geological 

Studies 

 

7,000,000 

250,000 

Secondary Year 5 13 May 2018 1 Exploration Well 

Geophysical and Geological 

Studies 

 

12,000,000 

250,000 

Secondary Year 6 13 May 2019 Geophysical and Geological 

Studies 

 

250,000 

Table 8 - WA-485-P Work Commitment Programme 

*IPB Petroleum internal estimates  

*Note: Only the first three (3) years (Primary Term) of the six (6) year permit grant are part of the committed work programme. A permit can be 

relinquished by the holder at the end of Year 3 and then at the end of each subsequent year (in the Secondary Term).  

If the permit holders do not comply with the work program and are not able to agree with the relevant government authority to a modification of the 

work program, then the subject permit would lapse. If a permit does lapse the holders of the permit do not have any ongoing liability for 

expenditure or work programme in respect of the lapsed permit. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

Resources 

The resources evaluation of petroleum permits is subject to uncertainty because it involves judgments on many parameters that cannot be 

precisely assessed and which may change as new information becomes available. 

 

All resources quantities contained in this report have been independently estimated by ISIS for and on behalf of IPB Petroleum. Further the 

resources quantities contained within this report have been prepared in full compliance and adherence to The Society of Petroleum Engineers 

Guidelines for the application of the Petroleum Resources Management System (SPE-PRMS). The qualification of the ISIS persons who 

prepared the resources estimates for and on behalf of IPB Petroleum and contained within this report are as follows:  

 

• Dr Douglas Gillies holds a BSc and a PhD in Geology. He is a member of the Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE) and has over 25 

years’ experience in the petroleum industry in Europe, USA, FSU, Middle East, Asia and Australia;   

• Mr Richard Carter holds a BAppSc (Geophysics), and a Graduate Diploma in Applied Physics (Geophysics). He has 18 years experience 

in petroleum exploration and development and a further 6 years as a full time independent investor in the Australian oil and has industry. 

He worked as a Senior Geophysicist with BHP Petroleum for 14 years;  

• Mr Werner Ribul holds a MSc in Petroleum Engineering. He has over 24 years of petroleum and reservoir engineering experience with 

specific focus on recovery optimisation opportunities, reserves determination and classification; 

• Dr. Enrique Carballido is the Chief Operating Officer of ISIS. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Geological Engineering, and a Ph.D. in 

Geology. He has over 20 years of exploration, appraisal and development experience in the petroleum industry in the, USA, FSU, Asia 

and Australia, including 17 years with Shell.  

 

For further information, including assumptions, limitations and qualifications relating to the estimation of resources contained within this report, 

please refer to the Independent Technical Expert’s Report by ISIS in IPB Petroleum’s Prospectus dated 1 March 2013, and IPB Petroleum’s 

ASX Release “IPB  Petroleum gains additional prospective resources from WA-485-P” dated 27 May 2013 available on the Company website 

www.ipbpet.com.au.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

Events Subsequent to Balance Date  
As detailed in the previous section, as a consequence of scarcity of suitable offshore rigs available for the drilling of the Pryderi Well, the WA-

424-P joint venture sought and on the 5 July 2013 was granted a twelve (12) month suspension and extension to the Permit’s Primary Term to 

12 July 2014. This extension was considered sufficient to allow for the drilling of the Pryderi Well and fully evaluate its results before 

commencement of the Permit’s Secondary Term. 

On 31 July 2013, 875,000 employee options with an exercise price of $0.2288 remained unexercised and accordingly expired. 

Future Developments, Prospects and Business Strategies  
IPB Petroleum’s strategy has been to position itself at the early stage of typical oil and gas asset life cycles. It is here that associated entry 

costs may not be overly prohibitive for IPB Petroleum, and in aiming to manage the commensurate greater risk (Refer: Risks), and with 

success, it is possible that the company can achieve substantial economic returns for its shareholders.  

IPB Petroleum does not intend to be the operator of any petroleum assets through and beyond the development stage. A benefit of this 

approach is that the costs and risks associated with developing a fully operational capability can be avoided, while the potential value of any 

future commercial discovery can still be retained through non-operating participation. The company’s longer-term goals therefore incorporate a 

requirement to introduce experienced operating partners for the development and production stages of any successful future discovery at an 

appropriate and/or opportune time. 

The company has built a small and capable management team experienced in exploration, appraisal and development of oil and gas fields, 

which when supplemented by its close group of external consultants has so far been successful in the execution of IPB Petroleum’s strategy. 

The company has an estimated 672 MMbbls of unrisked mean prospective oil resources, and IPB Petroleum’s short to medium term aim is 

through exploration and subsequent appraisal to convert some of these resources, for example those at Pryderi, to reserves and thereby 

increase the commercial value of the company’s assets. 

Over the next 12 months, IPB Petroleum aims to have the Pryderi Well in WA-424-P drilled and evaluated. If successful, it is likely that future 

exploration and appraisal activities will increase above minimum permit commitment levels.  

The company will continue with its ongoing geophysical and geological studies as well as planning for future scheduled seismic activities. An 

investigation into the potential for aggregation of future seismic commitments into a single multi-permit survey will be undertaken, which may 

result in a deferral of one nearer term survey whilst potentially bringing another survey forward, subject to government approval. 

IPB Petroleum has commenced a 2D seismic re-processing study and concurrent bio-stratigraphy project focused on all three (3) of the 

company’s Permits, which it hopes to complete over the coming months. This work is expected to contribute towards the planning of future 

exploration activities following additional input from the results of the planned Pryderi Well in WA-424-P. 

Investigation into further potential farmouts and related activities for IPB Petroleum’s Permits to cover future work commitments is also 

expected to continue. 

The company also plans to investigate possible future development scenarios around the commercialisation of the currently sub-commercial 

Gwydion oil discovery, in which IPB Petroleum holds a 40% working interest. Note: IPB Petroleum holds a 40% interest in the ‘GMG’ Area of 

WA-424-P. 

Risks  
The company has identified certain business risks associated with its strategy and business plans. These risks are summarised as follows:  
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

• Exploration risks 

As an exploration company, IPB Petroleum may be unsuccessful with its exploration activities. For example, there is the risk that the 

near term planned drilling of the Pryderi Well may not discover commercial hydrocarbons. Strategies to manage this type of risk include; 

(i)  completing as much work to de-risk exploration prospects as possible; 

(ii)  farming out interests to cover costs; and 

(iii)  achieving diversification through an exploration portfolio approach.  

IPB Petroleum intends to continue to apply some or all of these risk mitigation strategies as and when appropriate as it has done in 

relation to the upcoming Pryderi Well. It is important to highlight that there is a level of material risk in certain activities, such as 

exploration drilling, that cannot be reduced any further until that activity is undertaken.  

• Operational risks 

Exploration activities carry numerous risks such as delays, interruptions, and potential changes to scale and scope that cannot always be 

fully mitigated.  IPB Petroleum may experience delays to the planned drilling of the Pryderi Well and any possible follow on appraisal 

activities due to, for example, the unavailability of a suitable drill rig. These risks can cause schedule and cost increases to the 

company’s budgeted activities. IPB has managed to offset some of the immediate risks in this area. By way of example, the terms of the 

Farmout, are such that CalEnergy will fund 100% of the cost of drilling the Pryderi Well up to a possible maximum of $32.4 million. IPB 

Petroleum estimates that this well is most likely to cost approximately $15 million, thereby leaving substantial coverage for potential cost 

increases to this well before IPB Petroleum may be called to contribute additional capital. Risks associated with schedule delays still 

remain such that IPB Petroleum’s approach has been to provide support and work as constructively with the permit operator to best 

manage this type of risk. 

• Funding risks 

As an early stage exploration company a key risk for IPB Petroleum is the funding of future activities. Until sufficient exploration success 

is achieved and with likely access to alternate forms of funding, the company will need to raise additional funds as and when it maybe 

required from:  

(i) further farmouts;  

(ii) asset sales/divestments; or 

(iii) new share issues.   

IPB Petroleum will aim to utilize the most appropriate funding source at the most opportune time.  It may also consider reducing certain 

commitments as another option in managing its overall working capital if funding is not available. 

• Environmental risks 
Risks to operating schedules, such as delays to environmental approvals, could materially and adversely affect schedules and costs 

associated with the company’s planned and future activities. For example, future delays to environmental approvals for the Pryderi Well 

could adversely affect the likely timing of drilling the well. IPB Petroleum intends to comply at all times with all requisite environmental 

laws and regulations. Despite this there is always a possible risk that accidental environmental pollution could occur such that the 

company may be subject to substantial potential liability and the cost of any clean-up activities. 

• Counterparty and contractual risks 

Contractual disputes with joint venture partners, operators and contractors can arise from time to time. When a venture partner does not 

act in the best commercial interests of the joint venture project or IPB Petroleum, it could have a material adverse effect on the company.  

• Permit commitments and tenure risks 
The terms and conditions of the Permits held by IPB Petroleum require guaranteed annual work commitments to be completed. Whilst 

not a liability in terms of the relevant accounting standards and therefore not recordable in the company’s Statement of Financial 

Position, a failure to meet a guaranteed work commitment may render a permit liable to be cancelled, unless an extension of time or 

waiver of the requirement is granted by government. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

Dividends  
The Directors’ of the company do not recommend and have not declared the paying of a dividend for the Financial Year end 30 June 2013 

(2012: zero).  

Proceedings on Behalf of Company  
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring Capital Proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in any proceedings to which the 

company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or any part of those proceedings. The company was 

not a party to any such proceedings during the Financial Year.  

Environmental Regulation  
IPB Petroleum has a policy of complying with its environmental obligations. Under environmental legislation there is a requirement that the 

WA-424-P operator have approved an EP in respect of the proposed Pryderi Well issued by NOPSEMA. The operator of the WA-424-P permit 

under the Farmout is CalEnergy and the EP was submitted to NOPSEMA on 13 September 2013.  

During the Financial Year, the company was not aware of any material breach of any particular or significant Commonwealth, State, Territory 

or other regulation in respect to the environmental management. 

Indemnification of Directors and Officers  
During the Financial Year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors of IPB Petroleum and the Company 

Secretary and of any related body corporate against any liability incurred as a Director or Company Secretary to the extent permitted by the 

Corporations Act 2001. In accordance with commercial practice, the insurance policy prohibits disclosure of the terms of the policy, including 

the nature of the liability insured against and the amount of the premium. IPB Petroleum has not otherwise, during or since the end of the 

Financial Year indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or any related body corporate against a liability incurred 

as an officer or auditor. During the period the amount paid for Directors and Officers insurance was $26,030. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

Remuneration Report 
The Directors of IPB Petroleum present this Remuneration Report for the Financial Year ended 30 June 2013 in accordance with Section 

300A of the Corporations Act 2001. The information provided in this report has been audited as required by section 308 (3C) of the 

Corporations Act 2001. The Remuneration Report forms part of the Directors’ Report. 

IPB Petroleum remains focussed on delivering value for our shareholders. Ensuring we maintain an Executive remunerations framework which 

aligns with this objective to be a key priority for the Board.  

The Remuneration Report sets out remuneration information pertaining to the company’s Directors and Executives who are the key 

management personnel of the group for the purposes of the Corporates Act 2001 and the Accounting Standards.  

The Directors and Executives, being the key management personnel of the company, disclosed in the Remuneration Report during the 

Financial Year are shown in Table 9 below. 

Director Position 

Shane Tanner Non-Executive Chairman 

Brendan Brown Managing  Director 

Philip Smith Technical Director 

Craig Mathieson Non-Executive Director 

Geoffrey King Non-Executive Director 

Terry White Non-Executive Director 

 
Table 9 – IPB Petroleum Director’s & Executives 

 

The Remuneration Report is structured into the following sections:  

1. Executive Remuneration Policy and Framework 

2. Executive Directors’ Remuneration and Employment Agreements 

3. Executive  Remuneration 

4. Employee Option Plan 

5. Remuneration and Performance 

6. Remuneration for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2013 

7. Non-Executive Directors’ Fees 

8. Shareholdings 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT 
FO FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

1. Executive Remuneration Policy and Framework
Remuneration Policy 

IPB Petroleum aims to remunerate Executives fairly, responsibly and competitively for their contribution to the business. In line with this 

objective, IPB Petroleum’s policy is to review Executive remuneration packages against comparable companies. Executive pay levels are 

determined on a combination of external benchmarks and an assessment of individual performance.  

The key objective of the remuneration policy is to attract high calibre individuals and reward performance excellence in a way that is fair and 

reasonable and to ensure IPB Petroleum:  

• provides competitive remuneration and rewards which attract, retain and motivate Executives of the highest calibre within the resources

of the company;

• aligns the interests of shareholders, employees and other stakeholders;

• establishes deliverables which are linked to an Executive’s remuneration;

• benchmarks remuneration against appropriate industry groups and other listed entities; and

• complies with application legal and corporate governance requirements.

The remuneration policy is reviewed and approved annually by the Board and the company will use independent remuneration advisers for 

advice on Executive remuneration and Non-Executive Director fees. During the year, the company engaged remuneration consultants to 

advise on Executive Director remuneration.   

2. Executive Directors’ Remuneration and Employment Agreements
Managing Director – Brendan Brown 

Brendan Brown was appointed as Managing Director effective 1 October 2010. Mr Brown’s remuneration is governed by an ongoing 

Employment Agreement last amended in October 2012, which in summary, comprises of: 

• Base Remuneration of $350,000 per annum

• Mandatory superannuation contributions

• Reimbursement for general expenses incurred in the performance of his duties

• Mr. Brown is required to give six (6) months’ notice to termination the engagement (this is subject to other termination provisions)

• The agreement contains standard confidentiality, termination and other clauses expected to be included in an agreement of this type.

Technical Director – Philip Smith 

Philip Smith commenced as Technical Director effective 1 November 2010. Mr Smith’s remuneration is governed by a Employment Agreement 

last amended in October 2012, which in summary, comprises of:  

• Base Remuneration of $315,000 per annum

• Mandatory superannuation contributions

• Reimbursement for general expenses incurred in the performance of his duties

• Mr. Smith is required to give six (6) months’ notice to termination the engagement (this is subject to other termination provisions)

• The agreement contains standard confidentiality, termination and other clauses expected to be included in an agreement of this type.
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3. Executive Remuneration 
The Board may reward Executives through base salary increases, payment of cash bonuses, the issue of new shares or the issue of options 

under the company’s Employee Option Plan (EOP) as described below.  Any new shares or options to be issued to Executives that are also 

Directors of the company require shareholder approval prior to issue.  All remuneration paid to Executives is valued at the cost to the company 

and expensed. New shares given to Executives are expensed as the difference between the market price of those shares and the amount paid 

by the Executive. Options are valued using the Black Scholes methodology. 

The Board expects that the remuneration structure will result in the company being able to attract and retain the best Executives to run the 

company. It will also provide Executives with the necessary incentives to work to grow long-term shareholder value. 

The payment of bonuses, granting of options and other incentive payments are reviewed by the Board as part of the review of Executive 

remuneration. All bonuses, options and incentives will be linked to performance criteria. 

The Board can exercise its discretion in relation to approving incentives, bonuses and options. Any changes must be justified by reference to 

measurable performance criteria. 

The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase goal congruence amongst shareholders, Directors and Executives. This will be 

achieved via offering performance incentives based on key performance indicators but the Board has deferred any consideration of a 

formalised incentive program until early 2014.  

Due to the early development stage of the company there have been no performance linked component of remuneration paid to key 

management personnel in the Financial Years ending 30 June 2012 or 2013. 

The company makes superannuation contributions for its employees and Directors as required by law. 

The aggregate amount remuneration of Directors, other than salaries paid to Executive Directors, was $126,508 in the year ended 30 June 

2013. 

4. Employee Option Plan 
IPB Petroleum has an Employee Option Plan (EOP) for qualifying persons in order to motivate and reward them. The plan is open to qualifying 

employees and officers of IPB Petroleum. 

Under the EOP, the Board may offer options to full or part-time employees or officers, including Directors of the company (subject to shareholder 

approval), which the Board determines should be entitled to participate in the EOP. Any options granted to eligible employees or officers will be 

free, unless the Board determines otherwise. The company will not apply for ASX quotation of any options issued under the EOP. 

Any exercise price and life of the options will be set by the Board at its discretion. The Board may determine and specify at the time of grant of 

options: 

i. the time periods or other conditions that must be satisfied before options are vested; and/or 

ii. any exercise conditions that must be satisfied before options can be exercised. 

Subject to the satisfaction of any applicable vesting and/or exercise conditions before options can be exercised, options are exercisable during the 

specified exercise period, or within six (6) months of certain prescribed events such as retirement, death and permanent disability, by giving notice 

of the exercise to the IPB Petroleum and by paying the exercise price for the options exercised. Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one 

share. The shares allotted upon exercise of the options will rank equally in all respects with all other issued ordinary shares of the company. The 

company will apply for official quotation on ASX of those shares after they are issued. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

As at the date of this report no options have been issued to any key management personnel, however in August 2011 the company issued 

options to two (2) employees as part of their remuneration package.  Neither employee is a Director of the company or classified as key 

management personnel.  The two (2) employees were able to subscribe for a total of 875,000 new fully paid ordinary shares in the company 

by payment of $0.2288 per share on or before 31 July 2013. As at the date of this report no options were exercised and subsequently lapsed 

on 31 July 2013. Further details are shown in Note 23 of the Financial Statements. 

5. Remuneration and Performance
IPB Petroleum is in the early stages of development. Therefore, no performance linked components are included in the remuneration paid to 

key management personnel in the Financial Years’ ending 30 June 2012 or 2013.  

The company was first listed on ASX on 30 April 2013 and in the two (2) months to 30 June 2013 the Company’s ordinary shares traded in a 

ranges of $0.220 to $0.435 with the last sale of the Financial Year was at $0.250.  

No dividend has been paid, provided or recommended during the Financial Year 2013 and to the date of this report (2012: Nil). 

6. Remuneration for the Financial Year ended 30 June 2013
Details of the remunerations of key management personal of IPB Petroleum are show in Table 10 & Table 11 below. 

Salary/Fees 
(Fixed) 

Super 
(Fixed) 

Shares/ 
Options 

Other Total 

$ $ $ $ $ 

Executive Directors 

Brendan Brown 2012 
2013 

225,000 
312,500 

20,250 
25,000 

- 
- 

- 
- 

245,250 
337,500 

Philip Smith 2012 
2013 

225,000 
281,250 

20,250 
25,000 

- 
- 

- 
- 

245,250 
306,250 

Table 10 – Executive Director Remuneration 

Salary/Fees 
(Fixed) 

Super 
(Fixed) 

Shares/ 
Options 

Other Total 

$ $ $ $ $ 

Non – Executive Directors 

Shane Tanner 2012 
2013 

46,320 
67,500 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

46,320 
67,500 

Craig Mathieson 2012 
2013 

- 
30,275 

- 
2,229 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
32,504 

Geoffrey King 2012 
2013 

- 
13,761 

- 
1,239 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
15,000 

Terry White 2012 
2013 

- 
11,009 

- 
495 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
11,504 

Table 11 – Non – Executive Director Remuneration 
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7. Non-Executive Directors’ Fees
The amount of aggregate remuneration approved by shareholders and the fee structure is reviewed periodically by the Board against fees paid 

to Non-Executive Directors of comparable companies. Where appropriate the Board will secure independent advice regarding Non-Executive 

Directors remuneration reports when reviewing fees. 

Each Director has entered into an agreement as to the terms of their appointment as a Director of IPB Petroleum and (other than the 

Managing Director) receives remuneration as a Director, by way of a fee plus superannuation. Under such agreements current at the date of 

this report, there are no annual, long service leave, other termination entitlements or retirement benefits other than statutory superannuation. 

The Constitution and ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of Non-Executive Directors shall be determined from time to 

time by members in general meeting. An amount not exceeding the amount determined is then divided between the Directors as agreed. The 

company’s Constitution stipulates the aggregate annual remuneration to $500,000 per year and IPB Petroleum has not sought to increase that 

amount.  

Non-Executive Directors are encouraged by the Board to hold shares in the Company. 

No additional remuneration is paid to Directors for service on Board committees or on the Board’s of wholly owned subsidiaries. 

In addition, the Directors are entitled to be paid all travelling and other expenses they incur in attending to the company’s affairs, including 

attending and returning from general meetings of the company or meetings of the Directors or of committees of the Directors. 

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors for the year ended 30 June 2013 is detailed in Tables 9 and 10 of this report. 

8. Shareholdings
Number of ordinary shares held by Directors and other key management personnel as at 30 June 2013 are shown in Table 12 below. 

Directors Direct Shares Indirect Shares Total 

Shane Tanner - 1,000,000 1,000,000 

Brendan Brown - 26,993,400 26,993,400 

Philip Smith   26,674,900 50,000 26,724,900 

Craig Mathieson - 6,141,605 6,141,605 

Geoffrey King - 100,000 100,000 

26,674,900 34,285,005 60,959,905 

Table 12 – Ordinary Shares held by Directors 
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Auditor 
In accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 the company’s auditor, Pitcher Partners, continues in office. 

Non-audit services – detail and schedule 

The company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to its statutory audit duties where the auditor’s expertise and 

experience with the company are important. The Board has considered the position and is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services 

is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied that 

the provision of non-audit services by the auditor as set out below, did not compromise the audit independence requirement, of the 

Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:  

• All non-audit services have been reviewed by the Board to ensure they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor.

• None of the services undermine the general principle relating to auditor independence as set out in the Code of Ethics for Professional

Accountants, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or a decision making capacity for the

company, acting as advocate for the company or jointly sharing economic risk and reward.

Audit Services $ 

Audit and review of financial reports 54,000 

Non-audit Services 

Tax compliance services including review of tax accounting, tax returns and tax advice regarding tax losses. 

Due diligence process in preparing the Prospectus dated 1 March 2013. 

7,346 

28,000 

Total 89,346 

Rounding of amounts 

The Group has not applied ASIC class order 98/0100.The Directors Report is presented in whole Australian dollars unless otherwise indicated. 

Auditor’s independence statement  
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration for the Financial Year ended 30 June 2013 has been received as required under Section 

307C of the Corporates Act 201 and is included on page 30. The Directors’ Report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board.  

On behalf of the Board 

Shane Tanner 

Chairman 

Dated at Melbourne this 17th day of September 2013 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT 

The Board of IPB Petroleum is responsible for its corporate governance. The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of the 

company on behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they are accountable. IPB Petroleum has adopted systems of 

control and accountability as the basis for the administration of corporate governance.  The Board is committed to administering the policies 

and procedures with openness and integrity, pursuing the true spirit of corporate governance commensurate with the company's needs. 

The Board has the authority to delegate any of their powers to committees consisting of such Directors and external consultants, as the 

Directors think fit. The Board has only established an Audit Committee at present.  The Directors consider that because of the relatively small 

size of the company and its Board, and the straight forward structure of the company, any effectiveness or efficiencies achieved by the 

establishment of a remuneration committee or a nomination committee would be minimal, and relevant matters are dealt with by the full Board.  

The following Corporate Governance Statement is prepared in accordance with the Australian Securities Exchange Corporate Governance 

Council’s ‘Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations with 2010 Amendments’ 2nd Edition (‘ASX Guidelines’). In accordance with 

the ASX Guidelines, the Corporate Governance Statement must contain address each of the principles and accompanying recommendations 

detailed in the ASX Guidelines and disclose the extent to which the company has followed them during the reporting period. To date, due to 

the size of the company and the stage of its development, the Board has not formally adopted all recommendations required for complete 

compliance with ASX Guidelines however the Board considers that where there has not been complete compliance alternate processes and 

policies have been adopted to address the underlying principles of the ASX Guidelines. 

The following statement outlines the practices adopted by IPB Petroleum. 

Principle 1: Laying Solid Foundation for Management and Oversight 
The ASX Guidelines are that companies should establish and disclose the respective roles and responsibilities of Board and management. 

The Board distinguishes between the respective roles and responsibilities of the Board and management. The roles and responsibilities of the 

Board are set out in the company’s Board Charter (available on the IPB Petroleum website at www.ipbpet.com.au under ‘Investors – 

Corporate Governance’) and are consistent with the ASX Guidelines. 

The Board is responsible for corporate governance of the company. The Board develops strategies for the company, reviews strategic 

objectives and monitors performance against those objectives. The goals of the corporate governance processes are to: 

i. maintain and increase shareholder value;

ii. ensure a prudential and ethical basis for the company’s conduct and activities; and

iii. ensure compliance with the company’s legal and regulatory objectives.

Consistent with these goals, the Board assumes the following responsibilities: 

i. developing initiatives for profit and asset growth;

ii. reviewing the corporate, commercial and financial performance of the company on a regular basis;

iii. acting on behalf of, and being accountable to, the shareholders; and

iv. identifying business risks and implementing actions to manage those risks and corporate systems to ensure quality.

The company is committed to the circulation of relevant materials to Directors in a timely manner to facilitate fully informed Directors’ 

participation in the Board discussions. 

The Board has delegated authority for the running of the day to day business of the company to the Managing Director.  
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The ASX Guidelines calls for the disclosure of the process of evaluating the performance of senior Executives.  The Board reviews Executive 

packages annually by reference to company performance, Executive performance, comparable information from industry sectors and other 

listed companies. An assessment of the performance of Executives and the appropriateness of the remuneration levels is undertaken at least 

annually. Any changes to remuneration levels and any incentives must be justified by reference to measurable performance criteria that are 

consistent with goals that are congruent to those of the shareholders, Directors and Executives.  

Principle 2: Structure the Board to Add Value 
Election of Board members is substantially the province of the shareholders in general meeting.  However, subject thereto, the company is 

committed to the following principles:  

(a) the Board is to comprise of Directors with a blend of skills, experience and attributes appropriate for the company and its 

business; and  

(b) the principal criterion for the appointment of new Directors is their ability to add value to the company and its business.  

No formal nomination committee or procedures have been adopted for the identification, appointment and review of the Board membership, 

but an informal assessment process, facilitated by the Chairman in consultation with the company’s professional advisors, has been 

committed to by the Board. Notwithstanding ASX Guidelines given the size of the company and its Board, and the straight forward structure of 

the company the Directors consider that any efficiencies achieved by the establishment of a separate nomination committee would be minimal. 

The company has Board processes in place which raise the issues that would otherwise be considered by a nomination committee including a 

process of self-assessment and review of the performance of the Board, Committees and individual Directors undertaken annually. This 

process ensures that the Board and its Committees are operating effectively. 

The Directors of the company show in Table 13 below. 

Shane Tanner Non-Executive Chairman Independent Director 

Brendan Brown Managing Director Non-Independent Director 

Philip Smith Technical Director Non-Independent Director 

Craig Mathieson Non-Executive Director Independent Director 

Geoff King Non-Executive Director Independent Director 

Table 13 – IPB Petroleum Directors 

The Board comprises five (5) Directors of which two (2) are Executive Directors and are not considered independent and the other three (3) 

are Non-Executive Directors and are considered independent. Mr Mathieson is a related party to shareholders that have a substantial 

shareholding in the company, however it is considered this shareholding relationship does not materially interfere with the independent 

exercise of his judgement as a member of the Board, and as such he is considered to be independent.   

Principle 3: Promote Ethical and Responsible Decision-making 
IPB Petroleum’s Code of Conduct sets out the company's expectations for the conduct by the company's Directors, Executives and 

employees, including in relation to business conduct, personal and professional conduct (such as confidentiality, personal behaviour, diversity 

and respect for others). The Code of Conduct is available on the company’s website (www.ipbpet.com.au) under ‘Investors – Corporate 

Governance’).  

Consistent with the company’s commitment to maintaining ethical standards in the conduct of its business activities it recognises that diversity 

is an economic driver of competitiveness for companies and it strives to promote an environment and culture conducive to the appointment of 

well qualified persons so that there is appropriate diversity to maximise the achievement of corporate goals. 
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As at 30 June 2013 there were no female Directors and two (2) of the five (5) Senior Executive staff are female and four (4) of the total staff of 

eight (8) are female.  At this very early stage of the company’s development and given the small staff numbers the Directors consider it 

premature to set specific objectives in respect of gender diversity. As the company progresses it will develop and disclose its objectives for 

achieving diversity and progress in achieving them in future annual reports.   

In order to promote gender diversity, the company will engage in reviews and reporting to the Board about the proportion of women at the 

company and strategies to address diversity.  The company intends to recruit the most qualified persons for each position and considers 

persons from a diverse pool of qualified candidates. 

Principle 4: Safeguard Integrity in Financial Reporting 
The company seeks to safeguard the financial integrity of its financial reporting through the Board’s Audit Committee.  The Audit Committee 

was established to ensure the company has an adequate control framework for the oversight of the external audit and the internal audit 

arrangements and report to the Board.  The Audit Committee Charter is available on the company’s website (www.ipbpet.com.au) under 

‘Investors – Corporate Governance’) and its responsibilities include monitoring and reviewing any matters of significance affecting financial 

reporting and compliance, the integrity of the financial reporting of the company, the company’s internal financial control system and risk 

management systems and the external audit function. 

The Audit Committee comprises of the three Non-Executive Directors Craig Mathieson, Shane Tanner and Geoffrey King, all of who are 

independent.  The Chair of the Audit Committee is Craig Mathieson and not the Chairman of the Board consistent with ASX Guidelines. 

Principle 5: Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure 
IPB Petroleum has adopted a Continuous Disclosure Policy to ensure that the company complies with its disclosure obligations under the 

Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules. The Policy has established formal responsibilities, guidelines and procedures designed to ensure 

compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and accountability for compliance.  The Policy sets out the company's procedures 

with regard to the reporting of material price sensitive information to the ASX subject to confidentiality carve-out exceptions.  The Continuous 

Disclosure Policy is available on the company’s website (www.ipbpet.com.au) under the ‘Investors – Corporate Governance’ area). 

The Company Secretary is responsible for disseminating disclosure obligations within the company. The company’s continuous disclosure 

processes and policies are consistent with the shareholder communications recommendations set out in the ASX Guidelines. 

The policy also sets out other principles that the company will apply in relation to disclosure of material information, including that the 

company: 

i. will not give analysts any material price-sensitive non-public information at any time before it is disclosed to ASX;

ii. will not generally respond to market rumours and speculation, except where ASX formally requests disclosure by the

company on the matter or the Board considers it appropriate to make a disclosure in the circumstances; and

iii. will only allow the Chair and Managing Director or another person expressly authorised in writing by the Board to make

public statements on behalf of the company.

The policy emphasises a proactive approach to continuous disclosures. The objective is to create a culture of openness, which is conducive to 

the fulfilment of the company’s disclosure obligations. 

Principle 6: Respect the Rights of Shareholders 
IPB Petroleum places a high priority on communications with its shareholders, and although it does not have a standalone communications 

policy, the company considers that its Continuous Disclosure Policy, together with disclosure through the following means, should be sufficient 

to promote effective communications with shareholders: 
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• announcements released  through the ASX company announcements platform;

• provision of the Annual Report either by email or in printed form if requested,

• notices of meetings to shareholders; and

• a website that provides detail on the company including ASX announcements, financial reports, research reports, corporate governance

policies and other background materials.

Principle 7: Recognise and Manage Risk 
The Board Charter stipulates it is the Board’s responsibility to approve the company’s risk and audit framework, systems of risk management 

and internal control, as well as approving compliance with any risk and audit policies and protocols in place at the time.  The company does 

not have a standalone risk management policy because it is relatively small with limited business operations. The Audit Committee has 

assured a role in risk assessment and taken responsibility for the risk management processes in place. In addition, the Board has established 

a review process whereby the key risk areas are systematically assessed on a regular basis by the Directors to ensure effective control 

systems are in place.  Within the company the key management personnel responsible for the identification and management of risk are also 

Executive Directors so risk management reporting is all at the Board level. 

Furthermore prior to the Board signing the company‘s year-end and half year financial reports the Directors receive a declaration in 

accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act from the Managing Director and the Financial Controller (or equivalent) providing 

assurances that the financial statements are founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is 

operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.   

Principle 8: Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly
The ASX Guidelines recommend the establishment of a remuneration committee, but given the size of the company and its Board, and the 

start-up nature and straightforward structure of the company, the Directors consider that any efficiencies achieved by the establishment of a 

remuneration committee would be minimal, not making its establishment cost-effective. The remuneration of the Executive Directors and 

senior management will be decided by the Board.  The Executive Directors do not participate in that decision-making process in respect of 

Executive Director remuneration. 

The total maximum remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is initially set by the Constitution and subsequent variation is by ordinary 

resolution of Shareholders in general meeting in accordance with the Constitution, the Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules, as applicable. 

The determination of Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration within that maximum will be made by the Board having regard to the inputs and 

value to the company of the respective contributions by each Non-Executive Director. The current amount has been set at an amount not to 

exceed $500,000 per annum. 

In addition, a Director may be paid fees or other amounts (i.e. subject to any necessary shareholder approval, non-cash performance 

incentives such as Options) as the Directors determine where a Director performs special duties or otherwise performs services outside the 

scope of the ordinary duties of a Director. 

Directors are also entitled to be paid reasonable travelling, hotel and other expenses incurred by them in or about the performance of their 

duties as Directors. 

The Board reviews and approves the remuneration policy to enable the company to attract and retain Executives and Directors who will create 

value for shareholders, having consideration of the amount seen as commensurate with a company of the size and level of activity as well as 

the relevant Directors’ time, commitment and responsibility. The Board is also responsible for reviewing any employee incentive and equity-

based plans including the appropriateness of performance hurdles and total payments proposed. 
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Note 2013 2012 

$ $ 

Sales revenue 3 - - 

Operating costs - - 

Operating profit/(loss) - - 

Other revenue 3 211,509 64,657 

Expenses: 

Employee benefits and directors fees (808,375) (1,014,497) 

Consulting  and contractors 5 (383,420) (320,240) 

Legal, audit and accounting 5 (282,016) (92,964) 

Travel (87,300) (92,959) 

Shareholder relations 5 (77,385) (8,368) 

Listing  & filing fees 5 (71,565) (2,729) 

Joint venture fees (57,375) (0) 

Occupancy (45,403) (74,209) 

Depreciation and amortisation (33,276) (28,832) 

Other (175,481) (112,793) 

Total Expenses (2,021,596) (1,747,591) 

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense from continuing operations 4 (1,810,087) (1,682,934) 

Income tax expense 6 - - 

Net profit/(loss) after income tax expense from continuing operations (1,810,087) (1,682,934) 

Other comprehensive income - - 

Net profit/(loss) after income tax expense for the year 4 (1,810,087) (1,682,934) 

Total comprehensive income for the year (1,810,087) (1,682,934) 

Earnings/Loss per share from continuing operations: 

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 10 (0.02) (0.02) 

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 10 (0.02) (0.02) 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Note 2013 2012 

$ $ 

Assets 

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 11 2,599,652 2,417,642 

Trade and other receivables 12 32,093 376,996 

Other current assets 15 20,256 35,287 

Total current assets 2,652,001 2,829,925 

Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 14 47,505 60,222 

Exploration & evaluation assets 16 5,053,470 4,007,424¹ 

Total non-current assets 5,100,975 4,067,646 

Total assets 7,752,976 6,897,571 

Liabilities 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 17 190,440 345,412 

Provisions 18 123,801 63,854 

Total current liabilities 314,241 409,266 

Total non-current liabilities - - 

Total liabilities 314,241 409,266 

Net assets 7,438,735 6,488,305 

Equity 

Issued capital 19 11,281,575 8,521,058 

Reserves 26 56,350 56,350 

Retained earnings (3,899,190) (2,089,103) 

Total equity 7,438,735 6,488,305 

1. Capitalised hydrocarbon exploration expenditure for 2012 has been re-stated from previously reported $3,774,127 as at 30/06/2012 to $4,007,424 being 
an increase of $233,297. Refer to Note 16. 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Notes Issued 
Capital 

Reserves Retained 
Earnings 

Total Equity 

$ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2011 6,117,632 - (406,169) 5,711,463 

Comprehensive income 

Loss for the year - - (1,682,934) (1,682,934) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 4 - - (1,682,934) (1,682,934) 

Transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners, and 
other transfers 

Proceeds from issues of shares (less transaction costs) 2,403,426 - - 2,403,426 

Dividends recognised for the year 9 - - - - 

Option Reserve - 56,350 - 56,350 

Total transactions with owners and other transfers 2,403,426 56,350 - 2,459,776 

Balance at 30 June 2012 8,521,058 56,350 (2,089,103) 6,488,305 

Balance at 1 July 2012 19,26 8,521,058 56,350 (2,089,103) 6,488,305 

Comprehensive income 

Loss for the year - - (1,810,087) (1,810,087) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 4 - - (1,810,087) (1,810,087) 

Transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners, and 
other transfers 

Proceeds from issues of shares (less transaction costs) 2,760,517 - - 2,760,517 

Total transactions with owners and other transfers 2,760,517 - - 2,760,517 

Balance at 30 June 2013 19,26 11,281,575 56,350 (3,899,190) 7,438,735 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Notes 2013 2012 

$ $ 

Cash Flows from operating activities 

Reimbursements 156,214 - 

Payments to suppliers and employees (1,722,890) (2,244,348) 

Interest received 55,034 64,662 

Finance costs (261) - 

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities 22 (1,511,903) (2,179,686) 

Cash Flows from Investing activities 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (20,558) (21,136) 

Payment for other exploration & evaluation expenditure (1,046,046) (407,790) 

Purchase of investment in subsidiary - 5 

Net cash (used in)/provided by in investing activities (1,066,604) (428,921) 

Cash Flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from issues of shares (less transaction costs) 2,760,517 2,403,426 

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 2,760,517 2,403,426 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of Financial Year 2,417,642 2,622,823 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 182,010 (205,181) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of Financial Year 11 2,599,652 2,417,642 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

The parent company referred to as ‘IPB Petroleum’ is a public company limited by shares and is listed on the ASX. 

The financial statements and notes represent those of IPB Petroleum Limited and Subsidiaries accounted for as a consolidated group, 

collectively referred to as ‘Group’. The separate Financial Statements of the parent entity, IPB Petroleum, have not been presented within this 

financial report as permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated 

financial statements and that of the previous Financial Year are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years 

presented unless otherwise stated.   

The Financial Statements for the Group for the Financial Year ended 30 June 2013 were approved and authorised for issue on 17 September 

2013 by the Board. The Directors have the power to amend and reissue the Financial Statements. 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Preparation 

Basis of Accounting 

These general purpose Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, which include 

Australian Interpretations by virtue of AASB 1048 ‘Interpretation and Application of Standards’, and the requirements of the Corporations Act 

2001. The Group is a for profit entity for the purposes of preparing this report.  

The Financial Statements also comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB) and Interpretations as issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC).  

Historical Cost Convention 

Except for cash flow, these financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis under the historical cost convention as modified, 

where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities.  

New and Amended Standards Adopted by the Group 

The Group has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 

Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period.  

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted. 

Comparatives 

Where, necessary comparative information has been restated to conform to changes in presentation in the in the current year. No significant 

changes have been made and all changes have been footnoted throughout the financial statements. 

Rounding 

The Group has not applied ASIC class order 98/0100.The Financial Report is presented in whole Australian dollars unless otherwise indicated. 

(b) Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of entities controlled by the Group at the end of the 

reporting period. A controlled entity is any entity over which the Group has the ability and right to govern the financial and operating policies so 

as to obtain benefits from the entity’s activities. A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 13 to the Financial Statements. All controlled 

entities have a June Financial year end.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intragroup balances and transactions between entities in the consolidated group have 

been eliminated in full on consolidation. 
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(c) Income Tax 

The income tax expense/(income) for the year comprises current income tax expense/(income) and deferred tax expense/(income). Petroleum 

Resource Rent Tax (PRRT) will also be accounted for as an income tax under the accounting policies described below. The group does not 

presently have a PRRT obligation. 

Current Tax 

Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income. It is based on the profit and loss for the period 

adjusted for any non-assessable or disallowable items. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or are substantively enacted at 

the balance sheet date. Current tax liabilities/(assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to/(recovered from) the relevant 

taxation authority. 

Deferred Tax 

Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during the year as well as unused 

tax losses. 

Current and deferred income tax expense/(income) is charged or credited outside profit or loss when the tax relates to items that are 

recognised outside profit or loss. 

Except for business combinations, no deferred income tax is recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, where there is no 

effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the 

liability is settled and their measurement also reflects the manner in which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the 

related asset or liability. With respect to non-depreciable items of property, plant and equipment measured at fair value, the related deferred 

tax liability or deferred tax asset is measured on the basis that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered entirely through sale.   

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future 

taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised. 

Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and joint ventures, deferred tax assets and 

liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the 

reversal will occur in the foreseeable future. 

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended that net settlement or 

simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where:  

(a) a legally enforceable right of set-off exists; and 

(b) the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable 

entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective 

asset and liability will occur in future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be 

recovered or settled. 

Tax Consolidation 

The Group has formed an income tax consolidated group under the Tax Consolidated Regime from 3 October 2011. The tax consolidated 

group has entered into a tax funding agreement whereby each company in the group contributes to the income tax payable in proportion to 

their contribution to the net profit before tax of the tax consolidated group. In addition, the agreement provides for the allocation of income tax 

liabilities between entities. In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the Group also recognises the current tax liabilities (or  
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assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax 

consolidated group. Assets or liabilities arising under the tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts 

receivable from or payable to other entities the Group. 

 (d) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits available on demand with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with 

original maturities of 12 months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts when relevant, are reported within short-term borrowings in 

current liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

(e) Trade and Other Receivables 

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method, less any provision for impairment.  

Trade and other receivables include amounts due from customers for goods sold and services performed in the ordinary course of business.  

Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified as current assets.  All other receivables 

are classified as non-current assets.   

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and therefore carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and where relevant 

impairment losses.  The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it is not in excess of the 

recoverable amount from these assets. A formal assessment of the recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present. The 

recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and 

subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts.  

In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written 

down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses are recognised either in profit or loss or as a revaluation 

decrease if the impairment losses relate to a re-valued asset.   

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 

future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 

maintenance are recognised as expenses in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation 

The depreciable amount of all plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the consolidated group 

commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.  

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 

Office equipment  20–50% 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.  Gains and losses 

on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the net carrying amount. These gains and losses are included in the statement of 

comprehensive income. 

When re-valued assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings. 
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(g) Intangibles 

Computer Software 

Computer software is recognised at cost on acquisition. Computer software costs have a finite life and are carried at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and any impairment losses. Computer software costs are amortised over their useful life on a straight-line basis of generally two 

years. 

(h) Exploration and Development Expenditure 

Exploration, evaluation and development expenditures incurred are capitalised in respect of each identifiable area of interest. These costs are 

only capitalised to the extent that they are expected to be recovered through the successful development of the area or where activities in the 

area have not yet reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves. 

Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit or loss in the year in which the decision to abandon the 

area is made.  

When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised over the life of the area according to the 

rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. 

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to capitalise costs in relation to that area 

of interest. 

Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted for on a prospective basis. 

(i) Trade and Other Payables 

Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the entity that remain unpaid at the end of the reporting 

period. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability. The 

amounts which are considered payable after twelve months have been classified as non-current and are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method.  

(j) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when IPB Petroleum has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable that an 

outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured. Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the 

amounts required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period. 

(k) Leases 

Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset – but not the legal ownership – 

are transferred to entities in the consolidated group, are classified as finance leases.  

Finance leases are capitalised by recognising an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property 

or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. Lease payments are allocated between the 

reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period. 

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term. 

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are recognised as expenses in the 

periods in which they are incurred.  

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
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(l) Impairment of Assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. The assessment will 

include the consideration of external and internal sources of information including dividends received from subsidiaries, associates or jointly 

controlled entities deemed to be out of pre-acquisition profits. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by 

comparing the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, to the asset’s 

carrying amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the 

asset is carried at a revalued amount in accordance with another Standard (e.g. in accordance with the revaluation model in AASB 116: 

Property, Plant and Equipment). Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease in accordance with that other 

Standard. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite lives and intangible assets not yet available for use. 

(m) Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances 

Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of each of IPB Petroleum’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which that 

entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, the Group’s functional and presentation currency. 

Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign 

currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried 

at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date 

when fair values were determined. 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss, except where deferred in equity as a 

qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to the extent the gain or loss is directly 

recognised in equity otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in profit or loss. 

Group companies 

The financial results and position of foreign operations, whose functional currency is different from the Group’s presentation currency, are 

translated as follows: 

• assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period;

• income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and

• retained earnings are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction.

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations with functional currencies other than Australian dollars are recognised in 

other comprehensive income and included in the foreign currency translation reserve in the statement of financial position. The cumulative 

amount of these differences is reclassified into profit or loss in the period in which the operation is disposed of. 
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(n) Employee Benefits 

Wages and Salaries, Leave Entitlements 

Provision is made for the Group’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to the end of the reporting 

period. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 

liability is settled. 

Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for 

those benefits. In calculating the present value of future cash outflows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave 

being taken is based on experience of employee departures and periods of service. The group does not presently have a long service 

provision. 

Equity-settled compensation 

The Group operates an employee share and option plan. Share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the 

instruments issued and amortised over the vesting periods.  Share-based payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value of goods 

or services received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, if it is determined the fair value of the goods or services cannot be 

reliably measured, and are recorded at the date the goods or services are received.  The corresponding amount is recorded to the Employee 

Compensation Reserve.  The fair value of options is determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model.  The number of shares and options 

expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each reporting period such that the amount recognised for services received as 

consideration for the equity instruments granted is based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest. 

(o) Reserves 

Options Reserve 

The options reserve is used to recognise the fair value of shares and other equity instruments issued to employees under the employee share 

and options plans. 

(p) Revenue and Other 

Income Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable after taking into account any trade discounts and 

volume rebates allowed. When the inflow of consideration is deferred, it is treated as the provision of financing and is discounted at a rate of 

interest that is generally accepted in the market for similar arrangements.  The difference between the amount initially recognised and the 

amount ultimately received is interest revenue. 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point of delivery as this corresponds to the transfer of significant risks and rewards of 

ownership of the goods and the cessation of all involvement in those goods.  

Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to the financial assets. Dividend 

revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established. 

(q) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from 

the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).   

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 

payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are 

recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers. 
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(r) Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgements 

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, the Board and management evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the Financial 

Statements based on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events 

and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Group. Significant estimates and judgements 

made by management in the preparation for these Financial Statements are outlined below: 

Hydrocarbon Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 

The future recoverability of capitalised hydrocarbon exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number of factors, including 

whether the Group decides to exploit the related exploration permit itself or, if not, whether it successfully recovers the related hydrocarbon 

exploration and evaluation asset through sale factors that could affect the future recoverability include the level of economically recoverable 

reserves, future technological changes which could impact the cost of development, future legal changes (including changes to environmental 

and restoration obligations) and changes to commodity prices. To the extent that capitalised hydrocarbon exploration and evaluation 

expenditure is determined not to be recoverable in the future, financial results and net assets will be reduced during the financial period in 

which this determination is made.  

In addition, hydrocarbon exploration and evaluation expenditure is carried forward on the basis that activities in the areas of interest have not 

at the end of the reporting period reached a stage that permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically 

recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the areas of interest are continuing. To the extent it is 

determined in the future this capitalised expenditure should be written off in the statement of comprehensive income, financial results and net 

assets will be reduced during the financial period in which this determination is made. Information on the reasonable existence or otherwise of 

economically recoverable reserves is progressively gained through geological analysis and interpretation, drilling activity and prospect 

evaluation during a normal permit term. A reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves can 

generally only be made, therefore, at conclusion of those exploration and evaluation activities. The Group’s accounting policy for exploration 

and evaluation expenditure is set out in Note 1(h). The carrying amount of hydrocarbon exploration and evaluation assets is disclosed in Note 

16. RECTOR’S REPOR

Share Based Payments 

The Group measures the cost of equity settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date 

at which they are granted. The fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions 

upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share based payments would 

have no impact on the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit and loss and 

other comprehensive income. 

Income Tax 

The Group is subject to income taxes in Australia. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of 

business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group estimates its tax liabilities based on the Group’s understanding of 

the tax law. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact 

the current and deferred tax balances in the financial period in which such determination is made.  

Petroleum Resource Rent Tax 

PRRT applies to all petroleum projects in offshore areas under the Petroleum Resource Rent Tax Assessment Act 1987, other than some 

specific production licences. PRRT is assessed on a project basis or production licence area and is levied on the taxable profits of a petroleum 

project at a rate of 40%. Certain specified undeducted expenditures are eligible for compounding. The expenditures can be compounded 

annually at set rates, and the compounded amount can be deducted against assessable receipts in future years 
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The Group estimates that it has incurred expenditure for WA-424-P, WA-471-P and WA-485-P permits, resulting in a total carried forward un-

deducted expenditure against income, derived in future years of $1.05 million (2012: $1.34 million) as at 30 June 2013. At 1 July 2012 this 

estimated amount is $6.83 million (2012: $4.85 million) as compounding occurs annually on 1 July. 

In order for the Group to utilise undeducted expenditures for PRRT purposes from prior years, it will be required to substantiate eligible 

expenditure in relation to the permit since the date of its grant. Any amount that the group is not able to substantiate cannot be utilised against 

assessable receipts in future years. Interests in the undeducted expenditure can be transferred between projects by the Group or to other 

entities on acquisition of interests in the project. 

The Group has not recognised a deferred tax asset with respect to the carried forward un-deducted expenditure. 

2013 2012 

$ $ 

Deferred tax assets not recognised 

Deferred tax assets not recognised comprises temporary differences attributable to: 

Tax Losses 1,257,385 630,373 

Temporary Differences - - 

Total deferred tax assets not recognized 1,257,385 630,373 

The above potential tax benefit, excluding deductible temporary differences has not been recognised in the statement of financial position as 

the recovery of this benefit is uncertain. 

The taxation benefits of tax losses and temporary difference not brought to account will only be obtained if: 

(i) the company derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the 

deductions for the losses to be realised; 

(ii) the company continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by law; and 

(iii) no change in tax legislation adversely affects the company in realising the benefits from deducting the losses. 

New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods 

The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have mandatory application dates for 

future reporting periods, some of which are relevant to the group. The group has decided not to early adopt any of the new and amended 

pronouncements. The Group’s assessment of the new and amended pronouncements that are relevant to the group but applicable in future 

reporting periods is set out below: 

These Standards were mandatorily applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013. However, AASB 2012–6: 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures (issued September 2012) 

defers the mandatory application date of AASB 9 from 1 January 2013 to 1 January 2015. In light of the change to the mandatory effective 

date, the Group is expected to adopt AASB 9 and AASB 2010–7 for the annual reporting period ending 31 December 2015. The Directors do 

not anticipate that the adoption of AASB 9 and AASB 2010–7 will have a significant impact on the Group’s financial instruments, and it is 

impracticable at this stage to provide a reasonable estimate of any such impact. 
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AASB 10: Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11: Joint Arrangements, AASB 12: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, AASB 127: 

Separate Financial Statements (August 2011) and AASB 128: Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (August 2011)  

AASB 2012–10: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments), and AASB 2011–7: 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards (applicable for annual 

reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 

AASB 10 replaces parts of AASB 127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (March 2008, as amended) and Interpretation 112: 

Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.  AASB 10 provides a revised definition of “control” and additional application guidance so that a 

single control model will apply to all investees. This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s Financial Statements. 

AASB 11 replaces AASB 131: Interests in Joint Ventures (July 2004, as amended). AASB 11 requires joint arrangements to be classified as 

either ‘joint operations’ (where the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities) 

or ‘joint ventures’ (where the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement). 

AASB 12 contains the disclosure requirements applicable to entities that hold an interest in a subsidiary, joint venture, joint operation or 

associate. AASB 12 also introduces the concept of a ‘structured entity’, replacing the ‘special purpose entity’ concept currently used in 

Interpretation 112, and requires specific disclosures in respect of any investments in unconsolidated structured entities. This Standard will 

affect disclosures only and is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s Financial Statements.  

To facilitate the application of AASBs 10, 11 and 12, revised versions of AASB 127 and AASB 128 have also been issued. The revisions made 

to AASB 127 and AASB 128 are not expected to significantly impact the Group’s Financial Statements. 

These Standards are expected to result in more detailed fair value disclosures, but are not expected to significantly impact the amounts 

recognised in the Group’s Financial Statements. 

AASB 2011–4: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key Management Personnel Disclosure Requirements 

(applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013). 

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 124: Related Party Disclosures to remove the individual key management personnel disclosure 

requirements (including paras Aus29.1 to Aus29.9.3). These amendments serve a number of purposes, including furthering trans-Tasman 

convergence, removing differences from IFRSs, and avoiding any potential confusion with the equivalent Corporations Act 2001 disclosure 

requirements. 

This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial report as a whole because: 

• some of the disclosures removed from AASB 124 will continue to be required under s 300A of the Corporations Act, which is

applicable to the Group;

• AASB 2011–4 does not affect the related party disclosure requirements in AASB 124 applicable to all reporting entities, and some of

these requirements require similar disclosures to those removed by AASB 2011–4;

• AASB 2012–2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

(applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013); and

• AASB 2012–3:  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (applicable

for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014).

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132: Financial Instruments: Presentation to address potential inconsistencies identified in 

applying some of the offsetting criteria of AASB 132, including clarifying the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off’ and 

that some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement. 
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This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s Financial Statements. 

 AASB 2012–5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009–2011 (applicable for annual 

reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 

This Standard amends a number of Australian Accounting Standards as a consequence of the issuance of Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

2009–2011 Cycle by the International Accounting Standards Board, including: 

• AASB 1: First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting Standards to clarify the requirements in respect of the application of AASB 1 when

an entity discontinues and then resumes applying Australian Accounting Standards;

• AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements and AASB 134: Interim Financial Reporting to clarify the requirements for presenting

comparative information;

• AASB 116: Property, Plant and Equipment to clarify the accounting treatment of spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing

equipment;

• AASB 132 and Interpretation 2: Members’ Shares in Co-operative Entities and Similar Instruments to clarify the accounting treatment of

any tax effect of a distribution to holders of equity instruments; and

• AASB 134 to facilitate consistency between the measures of total assets and liabilities an entity reports for its segments in its interim and

annual financial statements.

This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s Financial Statements. 
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2. Parent Information
The following information has been extracted from the books and records of the parent and has been prepared in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standards. 

Notes 
2013 2012 

$ $ 

Statement of Financial Position 

Assets 

Current assets 2,652,001 2,829,925 

Non-current assets 5,100,975 4,067,646 

Total assets 7,752,976 6,897,571 

Liabilities 

Current liabilities 314,241 409,266 

Non-current liabilities -  -  

Total liabilities 314,241 409,266 

Net assets 7,438,735 6,488,305 

Equity 

Issued capital 19 11,281,575 8,521,058 

Options Reserve 26 56,350 56,350 

Retained earnings (3,899,190) (2,089,103) 

Total equity 7,438,735 6,488,305 

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 

Total profit 4 (1,810,087) (1,682,934) 

Total comprehensive income 4 (1,810,087) (1,682,934) 

Guarantees 

IPB Petroleum has not entered into any guarantees, in the current or previous Financial Years’, in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries. 

Contingent liabilities 

At 30 June 2013, IPB Petroleum had no contingent liabilities.  

Contractual commitments 

At 30 June 2013, IPB Petroleum had not entered into any contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment. 
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3. Revenue

2013 2012 

$ $ 

Revenue from continuing operations 

Interest Received  55,295  64,657 

Reimbursements for WA-424-P expenditure   156,214  - 

Total revenue   211,509  64,657 

4. Profit/(Loss) for Year

2013 2012 

$ $ 

Profit before income tax from continuing operations includes the following specific 
expenses: (1,810,087) (1,682,934) 

Expenses 

Rental expense on operating leases: 

minimum lease payments  52,347  52,212 

Exploration expenditure  1,046,046  407,790 
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5. Expenses
2013 2012 

$ $ 

Legal & Accounting Expenses comprise  of the following: 

 Float 

Legal (101,678) - 

Due diligence process in preparing the Prospectus dated 1 March 2013 (28,000) - 

 Non Float 

Legal (90,992) (39,954) 

Audit (54,000) (29,960) 

External Accountant (7,346) (23,050) 

  Total Legal audit and accounting (282,016) (92,964) 

Listing and filing fees comprise of the following: 

  Float (69,334) - 

  Non Float (2,231) (2,729) 

  Total Listing and filing fees (71,565) (2,729) 

Shareholder relations comprise of the following: 

 Float 

Printing and distribution (38,140) - 

  Non Float 

Printing and distribution (20,386) (8,368) 

Website (18,859) - 

  Total Shareholder relations (77,385) (8,368) 

Consulting and Contractors comprise of the following: 

 Float 

Secretarial (33,000) - 

Consultants (15,250) - 

  Non Float 

Secretarial  (47,872) - 

Consultants (123,183) (247,469) 

Contractors  (164,115) (72,771) 

  Total Consulting and contractors (383,420) (320,240) 

Float costs includes float brokerage expenses of $155,033 which has been booked to equity. 
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6. Tax Expenses

Notes 2013 2012 

$ $ 

(a) The components of tax (expense)/income comprise: 

Current tax (797,338) (595,182) 

Deferred tax asset 254,808 (6,239) 

Recoupment of prior year tax losses - - 

Tax losses not brought to account (542,530)  (601,421) 

The Deferred tax asset is not recognised as the future benefit is uncertain as per AASB 112. 

Notes 2013 2012 

$ $ 

(b) The prima facie tax on profit from ordinary activities before income tax is reconciled to 
income tax as follows: 

Prima facie tax payable on profit from ordinary activities before income tax at 30% (2012: 
30%) (543,026) (601,717) 

Add: 

Tax effect of: 

other non-allowable items 496 296 

write-downs to recoverable amounts - - 

share options expensed during year - - 

under-provision for income tax in prior year - - 

Income tax losses carried forward not taken up as benefit 542,530 601,421 

Less: 

Tax effect of: 

Exploration and evaluation costs - - 

other allowable items - - 

foreign currency exchange profit not subject to income tax - - 

revaluation of shares not subject to income tax - - 

Recoupment of prior year tax losses not previously brought to account - - 

Income tax attributable to entity Nil Nil 

The applicable weighted average effective tax rates are as follows: Nil% Nil% 
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7. Key Management Personnel Compensation
Refer to the remuneration report contained in the Directors’ report for details of the remuneration paid or payable to each member of the 

Group’s key management personnel (KMP) for the year ended 30 June 2013.   

The totals of remuneration paid to KMP of IPB Petroleum and the Group during the year are as follows: 

2013 2012 

$ $ 

Short-term employee benefits 770,258 536,820 

Post-employment benefits - - 

Other long-term benefits - - 

Share-based payments - - 

Total KMP compensation 770,258 536,820 

Total KMP compensation is larger than total employee benefits as it shows expenses that have been capitalised to the exploration asset in 

accordance with AASB 6.  

KMP Options and Rights Holdings 

No KMP held options during the Financial Year ending 30 June 2013. 

KMP Shareholdings 

The number of ordinary shares in IPB Petroleum held by each KMP of the Group during the Financial Year ending 30 June 2013 is as follows: 

30-Jun-13 
Balance at 

Beginning of Year¹ 
Granted as 

Remuneration during 
the Year 

Issued on Exercise 
of Options during 

the Year 

Other Changes 
during the Year 

Balance at End of 
Year 

Shane Tanner 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 

Brendan Brown 26,993,400 - - - 26,993,400 

Philip Smith 26,724,900 - - - 26,724,900 

Craig Mathieson 6,141,605 - - - 6,141,605 

Geoffrey King - - - 100,000 100,000 

Terry White 108,700 - - - 108,700 

Note 1 – Craig Mathieson, Geoffrey King and Terry White shareholdings are as at the dates of their respective appointments. 

The number of shares for the Financial Year ended 30 June 2012 is as follows: 

30-Jun-12 
Balance at 

Beginning of Year 
Granted as 

Remuneration during 
the Year 

Issued on Exercise 
of Options during 

the Year 

Other Changes 
during the Year 

Balance at End of 
Year 

Shane Tanner 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 

Brendan Brown 26,449,900 - - 543,500 26,993,400 

Philip Smith 26,449,900 - - 275,000 26,724,900 

Note: The shareholdings shown as at 30 June 2011 and 2012 have been adjusted to reflect a 10 for 1 subdivision of capital (ordinary shares) on 6 March 2012 and 
a 5 for 1 subdivision of capital (ordinary shares) on 2 November 2012 
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Other KMP Transactions 

There have been no other transactions involving equity instruments other than those described in the tables above. For details of other 

transactions with KMP (including loans), refer to Note 24: Related Party Transactions. 

8. Auditor’s Remuneration

2013 2012 

$ $ 

Remuneration of the auditor for: 

auditing or reviewing the financial statements 54,000  29,960 

taxation services  7,346  19,150 

Due diligence process in preparing the Prospectus dated 1 March 2013  28,000  -  

other corporate advice -  3,900  

taxation services provided by related practice of auditor  -   -  

 89,346  53,010 

9. Dividends
There were no dividends paid or declared by IPB Petroleum during the period. 
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10. Earnings per Share  

 

2013 2012 

$ $ 

(a) Loss used to calculate basic and dilutive loss per share (1,810,087) (1,682,934) 

Profit attributable to non-controlling equity interest - - 

Redeemable and converting preference share dividends - - 

Loss used to calculate basic EPS (1,810,087) (1,682,934) 

Basic profit/(loss) per share (cents) (0.02) (0.02) 

Dividends on converting preference shares - - 

Loss used in the calculation of dilutive EPS (1,810,087) (1,682,934) 

   

(b) Reconciliation of earnings to profit or loss from continuing operations:   

Profit from continuing operations (1,810,087) (1,682,934) 

Profit attributable to non-controlling equity interest in respect of continuing operations - - 

Redeemable and converting preference share dividends - - 

 (1,810,087) (1,682,934) 

Dividends on converting preference shares - - 

Loss used in the calculation of dilutive EPS (1,810,087) (1,682,934) 

Diluted profit/(loss) per share (cents) (0.02) (0.02) 

   
(c) Reconciliation of earnings to profit or loss from discontinued operations: - - 

Profit from discontinued operations - - 

Profit attribuable to non-controlling equity interest - - 

Earnings used to calculate basic EPS from discontinuing operations - - 

   
(d) Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in calculating basic 
EPS 92,591,547 87,503,014 

Weighted average number of dilutive options outstanding 875,000 802,083 

Weighted average number of dilutive converting preference shares on issue - - 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in calculating 
dilutive EPS 93,466,547 88,303,097 

   
(e) Diluted earnings per share is not reflected for discontinued operations as the result is anti-dilutive 
in nature. - - 

   

(f) Anti-dilutive options on issue not used in dilutive EPS calculation - - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

Potential Ordinary Shares 

Options outstanding at the end of the Financial Year are considered to be potential ordinary shares and have been included in the 

determination of diluted (loss) per share to the extent to which they are dilutive. The options have not been included in the determination of 

basic (loss) per share. 

A subdivision of Ordinary shares was conducted on the 6th March 2012 resulting in a 10:1 offer to existing shareholders at that date. The 

effect was an issuance of an additional 15,750,000 shares for nil contribution. 

During June 2012 a capital raising was conducted resulting in issuance of 1,100,000 shares for a contribution of $2,531,233 (less associated 

costs of $127,807). 

A subdivision of Ordinary shares was conducted on the 2nd November 2012 resulting in a 5:1 offer to existing shareholders at that date. The 

effect was an issuance of an additional 74,400,000 shares for nil contribution. 

During April 2013 a capital raising was conducted resulting in issuance of 5,831,100 shares for a contribution of $2,915,550 (less associated 

costs of $155,033). 

The basic earnings per share not adjusted for the share splits was -0.03, 2013(-0.25, 2012). The diluted earnings per share not adjusted for 

the share splits was -0.03, 2013 (-0.24, 2014). 

11. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

Note 2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Cash at bank and on hand  182,010 230,918 

Bank deposits at call   2,417,642 2,186,724 

 25 2,599,652 2,417,642 

    
The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits was 2.12% (2012: 2.67%); these 
deposits are at call.    

Reconciliation of cash    
Cash at the end of the Financial Year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled 
to items in the statement of financial position as follows:    

Cash and cash equivalents  2,599,652 2,417,642 

Bank overdrafts  - - 

 25 2,599,652 2,417,642 

 IPB Petroleum Limited 
Page 56 

 
 
  
 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

12. Trade and Other Receivables

2013 2012 

$ $ 

Current 

Rental deposit 32,093 32,093 

Receivables due from investors - 344,903 

Total current trade and other receivables 32,093 376,996 

Non-current 

Term receivables - - 

Total non-current trade and other receivables - - 

Opening Balance 
1/07/2011 

Charge for the 
Year 

Amounts Written 
Off 

Closing Balance 
30/06/2012 

$ $ $ $ 

Current trade receivables 267,100 109,896 0 376,996 

Opening Balance 
1/07/2012 

Charge for the 
Year 

Amounts Written 
Off 

Closing Balance 
30/06/2013 

$ $ $ $ 

Current trade receivables 376,996 (344,903) 0 32,093 

Credit risk 

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty or group of counterparties other than those 

receivables specifically provided for and mentioned within Note 12.  The class of assets described as “trade and other receivables” is 

considered to be the main source of credit risk related to the Group. 

The Group is not exposed to different geographic risks. 

The following table details the Group’s trade and other receivables exposed to credit risk (prior to collateral and other credit enhancements) 

with ageing analysis and impairment provided for thereon.  Amounts are considered as “past due” when the debt has not been settled, with the 

terms and conditions agreed between the Group and the customer or counterparty to the transaction.  Receivables that are past due are 

assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debtors and are provided for where there are specific circumstances indicating that 

the debt may not be fully repaid to the Group. 

The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table) are considered to be of high credit quality.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

2013 Gross 
Amount 

Past Due 
and 

Impaired 

Past Due but Not Impaired Within 
Initial  Trade 

Terms 
(Days Overdue) 

< 30 31–60 61–90 > 90 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Trade and term receivables 

Rental deposit   32,093 - - - - - 32,093 

Total   32,093 - - - - - 32,093 

2012 Gross 
Amount 

Past Due 
and 

Impaired 

Past Due but Not Impaired Within 
Initial  Trade 

Terms 
(Days Overdue) 

< 30 31–60 61–90 > 90 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Trade and term receivables 

Rental deposit   32,093 - - - - - 32,093 

Receivables due from investors 344,903 - 344,903 - - - - 

Total 376,996  - 344,903 - - - 32,093 

(d) Collateral Held as Security 

There is no collateral held as security.     

(e) Financial Assets Classified as Loans and Receivables 

Note 
2013 2012 

$ $ 

Trade and other receivables: 

Total current 32,093 376,996 

Total non-current - - 

Financial assets 25 32,093 376,996 

IPB Petroleum Limited 
Page 58 



 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

13. Controlled Entities

(a)  Controlled Entities Consolidated 

Country of Incorporation Percentage Owned (%)* 

2013 2012 

Subsidiaries of IPB Petroleum Limited: 

IPM WA 424P Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

IPM Browse Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

IPM West Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

IPM Exploration Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

*Percentage of voting power is in proportion to ownership
IPM Browse Pty Ltd, IPM West Pty Ltd & IPM Exploration Pty Ltd have been incorporated since 3 October 2011.

14. Property Plant & Equipment

2013 2012 

$ $ 

Office equipment: 

At cost 60,222 67,918 

Additions 20,559 21,136 

Disposals - - 

Accumulated depreciation (33,276) (28,832) 

Accumulated impairment losses - - 

Total office equipment  47,505  60,222 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

15. Other Assets

2013 2012 

$ $ 

Current 

Prepayments 13,756 27,000 

Other current assets 6,500 8,287 

Total other current assets 20,256 35,287 

Non-current - - 

Total other non-current assets - - 

16. Exploration Expenditure

2013 2012 

$ $ 

Exploration expenditure capitalised: 

exploration and evaluation phases 5,053,470 4,007,424 

development phase - - 

Production phase - - 

Accumulated depreciation - - 

Total exploration expenditure 5,053,470 4,007,424 

Recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration assets is dependent on the successful exploration and sale of petroleum. 

Capitalised costs amounting to $1,046,046 (2012: $407,790) have been included in cash flows from investing activities in the statement of cash flows. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

17. Trade and Other Payables
Note 

2013 2012 

$ $ 

Current 

Unsecured liabilities: 

Trade payables and accrued expenses 190,440 345,412 

Amounts payable to related parties 25 190,440 345,412 

(a) Financial liabilities at amortised cost classified as trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables: 

Total current 190,440 345,412 

Total non-current - - 

Financial liabilities as trade and other payables 25 190,440 345,412 

18. Provisions

Current Provision for Employee Benefits 

Opening Balance 
1/07/2012 

Charge for the 
Year 

Amounts 
(Used/Reversed) 

Closing Balance 
30/06/2013 

$ $ $ $ 

Provision for Annual Leave 63,854 113,135 (53,188) 123,801 

Provision for Employee Benefit 

Provision for employee benefits represent amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave. 

The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and the amounts accrued for long service 

leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having completed the required period of service. Based on past experience, the Group 

does not expect the full amount of annual leave or long service leave balances classified as current liabilities to be settled within the next 12 

months. However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer the 

settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish to use their leave entitlement. 

The non-current portion for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have not yet vested in relation to 

those employees who have not yet completed the required period of service. 

In calculating the present value of future cash flows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave being taken is based 

on historical data. The measurement and recognition criteria relating to employee benefits have been discussed in Note 1(n). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

19. Issued Capital

2013 2012 

$ $ 

98,831,100 (2012:18,600,000) fully paid ordinary shares 11,281,575 8,521,058 

The company has authorised share capital amounting to 98,831,100 ordinary shares. 

2013 2012 

No. $ No. $ 

(a) Ordinary Shares 

At the beginning of the reporting period: 18,600,000 8,521,058 1,750,000 6,117,632 

Shares issued during the year 

6-Mar-12  Share split (10:1) - - 15,750,000 - 

29-Jun-12 Capital Raising - - 1,100,000 2,531,233 

2-Nov-12 Share Split (5:1) 74,400,000 - - - 

24-Apr-13 Capital Raising 5,831,100 2,915,550 - - 

Transaction costs relating to share issues - (155,033) - (127,807) 

Shares bought back during the year: - - - - 

At the end of the reporting period 98,831,100 11,281,575 18,600,000 8,521,058 

(b) Subdivision of Ordinary Shares

A subdivision of Ordinary shares was conducted on the 6 March 2012 resulting in a 10:1 offer to existing shareholders at that date. The effect 

was an issuance of an additional 15,750,000 shares for nil contribution. 

During June 2012 a capital raising was conducted resulting in issuance of 1,100,000 shares for a contribution of $2,531,233 (less associated 

costs of $127,807). 

A subdivision of Ordinary shares was conducted on the 2nd November 2013 resulting in a 5:1 offer to existing shareholders at that date. The 

effect was an issuance of an additional 74,400,000 shares for nil contribution. 

During April 2013 a capital raising was conducted resulting in issuance of 5,831,100 shares for a contribution of $2,915,550 (less associated 

costs of $155,034). 

(c) Options 

For information relating to share options issued during Financial Year ending 30 June 2013 refer to Notes 23 and 26. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

 (d) Capital Management       

Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a sustainable debt to equity ratio, generate long-term shareholder value and 

ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue as a going concern.      

The Group’s capital includes ordinary share capital and financial liabilities, supported by financial assets.    

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.      

Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s financial risks and adjusting its capital structure in response to 

changes in these risks and in the market.  These responses include the management of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and share 

issues.      

There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the Group since the prior year.  The gearing 

ratios for the years ended 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2012 are as follows:  

 

Notes 2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Total borrowings  - - 

Less cash and cash equivalents 11 2,599,652 2,417,642 

Net debt  (2,599,652) (2,417,642) 

Total equity 19 11,281,575 8,521,058 

Total capital  8,681,923 6,103,416 

    
Gearing ratio  (23.04)% (28.37)% 

 

20. Leasing and Other Commitments 
(a) Operating Lease Commitments  

Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not recognised in the Financial Statements 

  2013 2012 

  $ $ 

Payable – minimum lease payments:    

not later than 12 months  52,000 52,000 

between 12 months and five years  - 54,080 

later than five years  - - 

  52,000 106,080 

 
The property lease is a non-cancellable lease with a 3 year term expiring 1 May 2014, with rent payable monthly in advance. An option exists 

to renew the lease at the end of the 3 year term for an additional term of 3 years. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

21. Operating Segments
Management has determined that the Group has one reportable segment, being Oil and Gas Exploration in Australia. 

The Group’s activities are therefore classified as one business segment. 

22. Cash Flow Information

Notes 2013 2012 

$ $ 

Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with Profit after Income Tax 

Profit after income tax 4 (1,810,087) (1,682,934) 

Cash flows excluded from profit attributable to operating activities: 

Non-cash flows in profit: 

depreciation 33,276 28,832 

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of purchase and disposal of 
subsidiaries: 

(increase)/decrease in receivables due from investors 12 344,903 (344,903) 

(increase)/decrease in prepayments 13,244 (27,000) 

increase/(decrease) in trade payables and accruals (154,972) (203,199) 

increase/(decrease) in provisions 18 59,947 49,797 

other 1,786 (279) 

Cash flow from operations (1,511,903) (2,179,686) 

The Group did not acquire or dispose of any entities during the period ending 30 June 2013. 

23. Share-based payments

(a) On 2nd August 2011, 875,000 share options were granted to specialist professional employees as part of their remuneration package to 

take up ordinary shares at an exercise price of $0.2288 each.  The options are fully vested and exercisable on or before 31 July 2013.  The 

options hold no voting or dividends rights and are not transferable. As at the date of this report these options lapsed without being exercised. 

The company established the IPB Petroleum Employee Option Plan(EOP) on 20 February 2013 as a long-term incentive scheme to recognise 

attract the highest calibre Executives and reward them for performance which results in long-term growth in shareholder value. Under the EOP 

options may be offered to full or part-time employees or officers of IPB Petroleum, including Directors of the company (subject to Shareholder 

approval), which the Board determines should be entitled to participate in the EOP. Any options granted to eligible employees or officers will 

be free, unless the Board determines otherwise.  

Any vesting conditions, exercise price and life of the options will be set by the Board at its discretion. The Board may determine and specify at 

the time of grant of options: 

(i) the time periods or other conditions that must be satisfied before options are vested; and/or 

(ii) any exercise conditions that must be satisfied before options can be exercised. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

Subject to the satisfaction of any applicable vesting and/or exercise conditions before options can be exercised, options are exercisable during 

the specified exercise period, or within 6 months of certain prescribed events such as retirement, death and permanent disability, by giving 

notice of the exercise to the company and by paying the exercise price for the options exercised. Each option entitles the holder to subscribe 

for one share. The Shares allotted upon exercise of the options will rank equally in all respects with all other issued ordinary shares of the 

company. The company will apply for official quotation on ASX of those shares after they are issued. 

A summary of the movements of all company options issues is as follows: 

Number Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

Options outstanding as at 1 July 2011 - - 

Granted 17,500  $11.44 

Split (10:1) 157,500 $1.0296 

Forfeited - - 

Exercised - - 

Expired - - 

Options outstanding as at 30 June 2012 175,000 $1.144 

Granted - - 

Split (5:1) 700,000 $ 0.9152 

Forfeited - - 

Exercised - - 

Expired - - 

Options outstanding as at 30 June 2013¹ 875,000  $ 0.2288 

¹The number of options shown is after adjustment for the 10 for 1 split on 6 March 2012 and the 5 for 1 split in the 2nd November 2012. 

On 31 July 2013, 875,000 employee options with an exercise price of $0.2288 remained unexercised and accordingly expired. 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at year end was one (1) month.  The exercise price of outstanding 

shares at the end of the reporting period was $0.2288. 

The fair value of the options granted to employees is deemed to represent the value of the employee services received over the vesting 

period.  

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was $0 (2012: $56,350). These values were calculated using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model applying the following inputs:  

Weighted average exercise price: $0.2288 

Weighted average life of the option: 1.9 years 

Expected share price volatility: 75% 

Risk-free interest rate: 4.18% 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

Historical volatility of similar Oil and Gas Exploration companies has been the basis for determining expected share price volatility as it is 

assumed that this is indicative of future movements. 

The life of the options is based on the historical exercise patterns, which may not eventuate in the future. 

As at 31 July 2013 options expired unexecuted. Refer to Post Balance Sheet Section. 

Consolidated revenue would have been $221,509 and consolidated loss $1,810,087 for the year ended 30 June 2013. 

24. Related Parties

There were no related party transactions. 

(a) The Group’s related parties are as follows: 

Entities exercising control over the Group 

The ultimate parent entity that exercises control over the Group is IPB Petroleum, which is incorporated in Australia. 

Key Management Personnel  

Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or 

indirectly, including any Director (whether Executive or otherwise) of that entity, are considered key management personnel. 

For details of disclosures relating to key management personnel, refer to Note 7: Key Management Personnel Compensation. 

Entities subject to significant influence by the Group 

An entity that has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity, but does not have control over 

those policies, is an entity which holds significant influence. Significant influence may be gained by share ownership, statute or 

agreement. 

The ultimate parent entity and its subsidiaries did not exert significant influence over any associate entities during the 2013 or 2012 

years. 

Joint Venture entities accounted for under the equity method 

The Group does not have any joint ventures which are accounted for under the equity method. 

Other related parties 

Other related parties include entities controlled by the ultimate parent entity and entities over which key management personnel 

have joint control. 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

 (b) Transactions with related parties 

There were no transactions with related parties. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

25. Financial Risk Management

The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market instruments, short-term investments, accounts 

receivable and payable, loans to and from subsidiaries, bills, leases, preference shares and derivatives. 

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139 as detailed in the accounting policies to these 

financial statements, are as follows: 

Note Consolidated Group 

2013 2012 

$ $ 

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 11 2,599,652 2,417,642 

Loans and receivables 12 32,093 376,996 

Total financial assets 2,631,745 2,794,638 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost: 

trade and other payables 17 190,440 345,412 

Total financial liabilities 190,440 345,412 

Financial Risk Management Policies 

The Board is responsible for, among other issues, managing financial risk exposures of the Group. The Board monitors the Group’s financial 

risk management policies and exposures and approves financial transactions within the scope of its authority. It also reviews the effectiveness 

of internal controls relating to commodity price risk, counterparty credit risk, currency risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.   

The Board’s overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the consolidated group in meeting its financial targets, while minimising potential 

adverse effects on financial performance. Its functions include the review of the use of hedging derivative instruments, credit risk policies and 

future cash flow requirements.  

Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management 

The main risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk consisting of interest rate 

risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk (commodity and equity price risk).  

There have been no substantive changes in the types of risks the Group is exposed to, how these risks arise, or the Board’s objectives, 

policies and processes for managing or measuring the risks from the previous period. 

(a) Credit risk 

Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by counterparties of contract obligations that 

could lead to a financial loss to the Group. 

IPB Petroleum Limited 
Page 67 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 continued 

Credit risk is managed through the maintenance of procedures (such procedures include the utilisation of systems for the approval, granting 

and renewal of credit limits, regular monitoring of exposures against such limits and monitoring of the financial stability of significant customers 

and counterparties), ensuring to the extent possible that customers and counterparties to transactions are of sound credit worthiness. Such 

monitoring is used in assessing receivables for impairment. Depending on the division within the Group, credit terms are generally 14 to 30 

days from the invoice date.  

Risk is also minimised through investing surplus funds in financial institutions that maintain a high credit rating, or in entities that the Board has 

otherwise assessed as being financially sound.  Where the Group is unable to ascertain a satisfactory credit risk profile in relation to a 

customer or counterparty, the risk may be further managed through title retention clauses over goods or obtaining security by way of personal 

or commercial guarantees over assets of sufficient value which can be claimed against in the event of any default. 

Credit risk exposures 

The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at the end of the reporting period excluding the value of any 

collateral or other security held, is equivalent to the carrying amount and classification of those financial assets (net of any provisions) as 

presented in the statement of financial position. Credit risk also arises through the provision of financial guarantees, as approved at Board 

level, given to parties securing the liabilities of certain subsidiaries.  

Collateral held by the Group securing receivables is detailed in Note 12(d). 

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk with any single counterparty or group of counterparties.  However, on a geographical 

basis, the Group has significant credit risk exposures to Australia given the substantial operations in those regions.  Details with respect to 

credit risk of trade and other receivables are provided in Note 12. 

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be of high credit quality.  Aggregates of such amounts 

are detailed in Note 12. 

Credit risk related to balances with banks and other financial institutions is managed by the Board in accordance with company policy. Such 

policy requires that surplus funds are only invested with counterparties with a Standard & Poor’s rating of at least AA–.  The following table 

provides information regarding the credit risk relating to cash and money market securities based on Standard & Poor’s counterparty credit 

ratings.  

26. Reserves

2013 2012 

$ $ 

Option Reserves 56,350 56,350 

The option reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of employee share options. 

27. Company Details

IPB Petroleum is a publicly listed company limited by shares and is listed in Australia on the ASX. It is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 

The registered office of IPB Petroleum and the principal place of business is 23 Small St, Hampton, Victoria 3188.  
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DIRECTORS’ 
DECLARATION 

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of IPB Petroleum Limited (ABN 52 137 387 350) Listed Public Limited, the 

directors of the company declare that: 

1. the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 35 to 68 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001

and:

a) comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which, as stated in accounting policy Note 1 to the financial

statements, constitutes compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); and

b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2013 and of the performance for the year

ended on that date of the consolidated group;

2. in the Directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as

and when they become due and payable; and

3. the Directors have been given the declarations required by S295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Chief

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer.

At the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that IPB Petroleum and its subsidiaries will be able to 

meet any obligations or liabilities which fall due. 

Shane Tanner 

Non-Executive Chairman 

Dated this 17th day of September 2013 
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ASX ADDITIONAL 
INFORMATION 

Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this report is as follows. The information 

is current as at 12 September 2013.  

a) Distribution of shareholders

 Analysis of numbers of shareholders by size of holding: 

Ordinary Shares 

 1-1000  1 

 1,001–5,000  124 

 5,001–10,000  161 

 10,001–100,000  171 

 100,001 and over 63 

Total Shareholders 520 

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of shares is 1.  

b) Classes of Securities and Voting rights

IPB Petroleum only has on issue fully paid ordinary shares and there are no share options on issue as at the date of this report.  The 

voting rights attaching to ordinary shares are governed by the Constitution. On a show of hands every person present who is a member 

or representative of a member shall have one vote and on a poll, every member present in person or by proxy or by attorney or duly 

authorised representative shall have one vote for each share held. No options have any voting rights. 
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ASX ADDITIONAL 
INFORMATION continued 

c) Top 20 shareholders

 The names of the 20 largest holders of ordinary shares are listed below: 

Name Number of ordinary shares % ordinary shares 

P.  SMITH  26,674,900 27.0% 

BTMB INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 26,250,000 26.6% 

PGS AUSTRALIA PTY LTD  8,200,000 8.3% 

HOLDREY PTY LTD  3,819,205 3.9% 

ORIENT GLOBAL HOLDINGS PTY LTD  2,659,750 2.7% 

DDVM SUPER NOMINEES PTY LTD  2,185,800 2.2% 

WAL ASSETS PTY LTD  1,437,700 1.5% 

WILMARIDGE PTY LTD  1,100,000 1.1% 

SEEKAY PTY LTD  1,042,500 1.1% 

S.F. TANNER &  A.M. TANNER  1,000,000 1.0% 

AUSTIN SUPERMANAGEMENT Pty Ltd 928,700 0.9% 

TARGET RANGE PTY LTD  917,500 0.9% 

LONG TERM SUPER PTY LTD  743,400 0.8% 

D.R. MATLOCK & C.A.  MATLOCK  596,450 0.6% 

EMINENT HOLDINGS PTY LTD  595,000 0.6% 

D. MCLACHLAN &  W. MCLACHLAN  551,750 0.6% 

P.A. COGHILL &  K.E. COGHILL  546,450 0.6% 

A. MCGRATH  546,450 0.6% 

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED  505,510 0.5% 

JENNA INVESTMENTS (VIC) PTY LTD  470,000 0.5% 

Top  20 Ordinary Shareholders Total  80,771,065 81.7% 

Total Ordinary Shares as at 12 September 2103 98,831,100 
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SHAREHOLDER 
INFORMATION 

d) Restricted Securities

IPB Petroleum is aware of the following parties having restrictions over their security holdings through to 30 April 2015: 

Name Number ordinary shares held in 
escrow 

% ordinary shares held in escrow 

P.  SMITH 26,394,737 26.7% 

BTMB INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 26,250,000 26.6% 

HOLDREY PTY LTD 1,817,942 1.8% 

DDVM SUPERANNUATION NOMINEES PTY LTD 1,385,798 1.4% 

LONG TERM SUPER PTY LTD 169,496 0.2% 

S.F. TANNER & A.M. TANNER 784,000 0.8% 

CRAIG AND MEREDITH MATHIESON PTY LTD 86,605 0.1% 

TRAVELOPP PTY LTD 4,000 0.0% 

e) Substantial Shareholders

Substantial holders in IPB Petroleum are set out below: 

Name Number of ordinary shares held %  ordinary shares held 

B. BROWN 26,993,440 27.3% 

P.  SMITH 26,724,900 27.0% 

PGS AUSTRALIA PTY LTD 8,200,000 8.3% 

C. MATHIESON 6,141,605 6.2% 

f) Schedule of Petroleum Exploration Permits Held

Permit Basin/Country Joint Venture Partners Equity % Operator 

WA-424-P (Excl. GMGǂ area) Browse Basin / Australia IPB Petroleum 
CalEnergy 

75% 
25% CalEnergy 

WA-424-P (GMG area only) Browse Basin / Australia IPB Petroleum 
CalEnergy 

40% 
60% CalEnergy 

WA-471-P Browse Basin / Australia  IPB Petroleum 100% IPB Petroleum 

WA-485-P Browse Basin / Australia IPB Petroleum  100% IPB Petroleum 

 ǂ Detail on the GMG area within WA-424-P can be found in the ‘Significant Changes in State of Affairs’ in Directors Report. 

Further detail on Permits and works can be found in the Review of Operations pages 13-20.  
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$, Aus. or Dollars Australian dollars unless otherwise stated 

ASIC Australian Securities and Investment Commission 

ASX ASX Limited 

ASX Listing Rules The listing rules of ASX 

Board IPB Petroleum Board of Directors 

CalEnergy CalEnergy Resources (Australia) Ltd (ABN 39 130 674 869) 

Contingent Resources Those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from known 

accumulations by application of development projects, but which are not currently considered to be 

commercially recoverable due to one or more contingencies.  

Constitution The Constitution of the Company 

Corporations Act The Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) 

Director A Director of IPB Petroleum Limited 

EOP The IPB Petroleum Limited Employee Option Plan 

Farmout Farmin and Option Agreement between IPM WA 424P  Pty Ltd, IPM Browse Pty Ltd, IPM West Pty Ltd 

and CalEnergy dated 28 September 2012 

GMG Area The part of the WA-424-P permit containing the Gwydion, Mathonwy and Gilfaethwy complex 

Gwydion MC3D The MultiClient 3D 200km2 seismic survey completed by PGS in 2011 in WA-424-P

Independent Technical Expert ISIS Petroleum Consultants Pty Ltd (ABN 71 593 269 416) 

IPB Petroleum IPB Petroleum Limited (ABN 52 137 387 350) 

IPO Initial public offer 

Km Kilometres 

Km² Kilometres squared 

Lead A subsurface drilling target that requires more technical work before it is ready to drill 

MMbbl Millions of barrels of oil 

P10 There should be at least 10% probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the high 

estimate 

P50 There should be at least 50% probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the best 

estimate 

P90 There should be at least 90% probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the 

low estimate 

PGS PGS Australia Pty Ltd (ACN 46 077 150 415) 

Permits the WA-424-P, WA-471-P, WA-485-P petroleum exploration permits 

Play or ‘play’ A project associated with a prospective trend of potential prospects, but which requires more data 

acquisition and/or evaluation in order to define specific leads or prospects.  

Primary Term The first 3 years of the 6-year period for which an exploration permit is initially awarded. The work activity 

for the first 3 years of the program are guaranteed work program commitments by the permit holders 

Prospect A ready-to-drill subsurface drilling target 
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PRRT Petroleum Resources Rent Tax 

Pryderi Prospect The ready-to-drill subsurface drilling target at Pryderi within the WA-424-P permit 

Secondary Term The second 3 years of the 6-year period for which an exploration permit is initially awarded. On the 

commencement of the 4th year, the secondary work program becomes guaranteed on a year by year basis 

by the permit holders. Once a year has commenced the permit holders must complete all the specified work 

for that year. The work proposed in the secondary term can be varied prior to the commencement of the 

secondary term permit year. 

Spud the process of beginning to drill a well. 
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CORPORATE 
DIRECTORY 

DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY REGISTERED OFFICE AND PRINCIPLE PLACE OF BUSINESS 

Shane Tanner 
Non-Executive Director and Chairman 

Brendan Brown  
Managing Director 

Philip Smith  
Technical Director 

Craig Mathieson  
Non-Executive Director 

Geoffrey King  
Non-Executive Director 

John Osborne 
Company Secretary 

IPB Petroleum Limited 

23 Small Street 

Hampton VIC 3188 

Australia 

Phone +61 3 9598 0188 

Fax +61 3 9598 0199 

Email info@ipbpet.com.au 

Website www.ipbpet.com.au  

AUSTRALIAN BUSINESS NUMBER 

52 137 387 350 

SOLICITORS AUDITOR 

Baker & McKenzie 

Level 19, 181 William Street 

Melbourne VIC 3000 

Pitcher Partners NSW Pty Ltd 

Level 22, MLC Centre 

Martin Place 

Sydney NSW 2000 

SHARE REGISTRY 

Link Market Services Limited 

1A Homebush Bay Drive 

Rhodes NSW 2138 

Phone 1300 554 474 (toll free) 

Fax +61 2 9287 0303 

Email registrars@linkmarketservices.com.au 

Website www.linkmarketservices.com.au  
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